
 

 

 

Children, Young People and 
Family Support Scrutiny and 
Policy Development Committee 
 

 
Thursday 6 February 2014 at 2.00 pm 
 
To be held at the Town Hall, Pinstone 
Street, Sheffield, S1 2HH 

 
The Press and Public are Welcome to Attend 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Membership 
  

Councillors Gill Furniss (Chair), Talib Hussain, Karen McGowan, 
Mohammad Maroof, Helen Mirfin-Boukouris, Lynn Rooney, Colin Ross, 
Andrew Sangar (Deputy Chair), Ian Saunders, Nikki Sharpe, Diana Stimely, 
Stuart Wattam and Cliff Woodcraft 
 
Education Non-Council Members 
Jules Jones, Gillian Foster, Joan Stratford and Alison Warner 
 
 
Substitute Members 
In accordance with the Constitution, Substitute Members may be provided for the 
above Committee Members as and when required. 
 

  

 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 

PUBLIC ACCESS TO THE MEETING 

 
The Children, Young People and Family Support Scrutiny Committee exercises an 
overview and scrutiny function in respect of the planning, policy development and 
monitoring of service performance and other general issues relating to learning and 
attainment and the care of children and young people within the Children’s Services 
area of Council activity.  It also scrutinises as appropriate the various local Health 
Services functions, with particular reference to those relating to the care of children. 
 
A copy of the agenda and reports is available on the Council’s website at 
www.sheffield.gov.uk. You can also see the reports to be discussed at the meeting if 
you call at the First Point Reception, Town Hall, Pinstone Street entrance.  The 
Reception is open between 9.00 am and 5.00 pm, Monday to Thursday and between 
9.00 am and 4.45 pm. on Friday, or you can ring on telephone no. 2734552.  You 
may not be allowed to see some reports because they contain confidential 
information.  These items are usually marked * on the agenda.  
 
Members of the public have the right to ask questions or submit petitions to Scrutiny 
Committee meetings and recording is allowed under the direction of the Chair.  
Please see the website or contact Democratic Services for further information 
regarding public questions and petitions and details of the Council’s protocol on 
audio/visual recording and photography at council meetings. 
 
Scrutiny Committee meetings are normally open to the public but sometimes the 
Committee may have to discuss an item in private.  If this happens, you will be asked 
to leave.  Any private items are normally left until last.  If you would like to attend the 
meeting please report to the First Point Reception desk where you will be directed to 
the meeting room. 
 
If you require any further information about this Scrutiny Committee, please 
contact Matthew Borland, Policy and Improvement Officer on 0114 27 35065 or 
email matthew.borland@sheffield.gov.uk 
 

FACILITIES 

 
There are public toilets available, with wheelchair access, on the ground floor of the 
Town Hall.  Induction loop facilities are available in meeting rooms. 
 
Access for people with mobility difficulties can be obtained through the ramp on the 
side to the main Town Hall entrance. 
 



 

 

 

CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE AND FAMILY SUPPORT SCRUTINY AND POLICY 
DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE AGENDA 

6 FEBRUARY 2014 
 

Order of Business 

 
1. Welcome and Housekeeping Arrangements  
   
2. Apologies for Absence  
   
3. Exclusion of Public and Press  
 To identify items where resolutions may be moved to 

exclude the press and public 
 

 

4. Declarations of Interest (Pages 1 - 4) 
 Members to declare any interests they have in the business 

to be considered at the meeting 
 

 

5. Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 12) 
 To approve the minutes of the meetings of Committee held 

on 5th December, 2013, and to note the Actions Update 
 

 

6. Public Questions and Petitions  
 To receive any questions or petitions from members of the 

public 
 

 

7. Sheffield Safeguarding Children Board - Annual Report 
2012/13 

(Pages 13 - 86) 

 Report of the Executive Director, Children, Young People 
and Families 
 

 

8. Adoption and Fostering Services - Updates (Pages 87 - 
100) 

 Reports of the Executive Director, Children, Young People 
and Families 
 

 

9. Looked After Children and Care Leavers  
 The Executive Director, Children, Young People and 

Families to report 
 

 

10. Work Programme (Pages 101 - 
102) 

 Report of the Policy and Improvement Officer 
 

 

11. Date of Next Meeting  
 The next meeting of the Committee will be held on 

Thursday, 3rd April, 2014, at 2.00 pm, in the Town Hall  
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 1

ADVICE TO MEMBERS ON DECLARING INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 

 
 
New standards arrangements were introduced by the Localism Act 2011.  The new 
regime made changes to the way that members’ interests are registered and 
declared.   
 
If you are present at a meeting of the Council, of its executive or any committee of 
the executive, or of any committee, sub-committee, joint committee, or joint sub-
committee of the authority, and you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) 
relating to any business that will be considered at the meeting, you must not:  
 

• participate in any discussion of the business at the meeting, or if you 
become aware of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interest during the 
meeting, participate further in any discussion of the business, or  

• participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the 
meeting.  

These prohibitions apply to any form of participation, including speaking as a 
member of the public. 

You must: 

• leave the room (in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct) 

• make a verbal declaration of the existence and nature of any DPI at 
any meeting at which you are present at which an item of business 
which affects or relates to the subject matter of that interest is under 
consideration, at or before the consideration of the item of business or 
as soon as the interest becomes apparent. 

• declare it to the meeting and notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer 
within 28 days, if the DPI is not already registered. 

 

If you have any of the following pecuniary interests, they are your disclosable 
pecuniary interests under the new national rules. You have a pecuniary interest if 
you, or your spouse or civil partner, have a pecuniary interest.  
 

•  Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain, which you, or your spouse or civil partner, undertakes. 

  

•  Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than 
from your council or authority) made or provided within the relevant 
period* in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses. This 
includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within 
the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992.  
 

Agenda Item 4

Page 1



 2

*The relevant period is the 12 months ending on the day when you 
tell the Monitoring Officer about your disclosable pecuniary interests.  

  

•  Any contract which is made between you, or your spouse or your 
civil partner (or a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil 
partner, has a beneficial interest) and your council or authority -  

o under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to 

be executed; and  

o which has not been fully discharged. 

  

•  Any beneficial interest in land which you, or your spouse or your civil 
partner, have and which is within the area of your council or 
authority.  

  

•  Any licence (alone or jointly with others) which you, or your spouse 
or your civil partner, holds to occupy land in the area of your council 
or authority for a month or longer.  

  

•  Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) - 

 - the landlord is your council or authority; and  

-   the tenant is a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil 
partner,   has a beneficial interest. 

 

•  Any beneficial interest which you, or your spouse or your civil partner 
has in securities of a body where -  
 

 (a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in 
the area of your council or authority; and  

 
 (b) either -  

 the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or  
 if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the 
total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you, 
or your spouse or your civil partner, has a beneficial interest 
exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class.  

  

If you attend a meeting at which any item of business is to be considered and you 
are aware that you have a personal interest in the matter which does not amount to 
a DPI, you must make verbal declaration of the existence and nature of that interest 
at or before the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest 
becomes apparent. You should leave the room if your continued presence is 
incompatible with the 7 Principles of Public Life (selflessness; integrity; objectivity; 
accountability; openness; honesty; and leadership).  

You have a personal interest where – 

• a decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded 
as affecting the well-being or financial standing (including interests in 

Page 2



 3

land and easements over land) of you or a member of your family or a 
person or an organisation with whom you have a close association to 
a greater extent than it would affect the majority of the Council Tax 
payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward or electoral area for 
which you have been elected or otherwise of the Authority’s 
administrative area, or 

 

• it relates to or is likely to affect any of the interests that are defined as 
DPIs but are in respect of a member of your family (other than a 
partner) or a person with whom you have a close association. 

 
Guidance on declarations of interest, incorporating regulations published by the 
Government in relation to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, has been circulated to 
you previously, and has been published on the Council’s website as a downloadable 
document at -http://councillors.sheffield.gov.uk/councillors/register-of-councillors-
interests 
 
You should identify any potential interest you may have relating to business to be 
considered at the meeting. This will help you and anyone that you ask for advice to 
fully consider all the circumstances before deciding what action you should take. 
 
In certain circumstances the Council may grant a dispensation to permit a Member 
to take part in the business of the Authority even if the member has a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest relating to that business.  

To obtain a dispensation, you must write to the Monitoring Officer at least 48 hours 
before the meeting in question, explaining why a dispensation is sought and 
desirable, and specifying the period of time for which it is sought.  The Monitoring 
Officer may consult with the Independent Person or the Council’s Standards 
Committee in relation to a request for dispensation. 

Further advice can be obtained from Lynne Bird, Director of Legal Services on 0114 
2734018 or email lynne.bird@sheffield.gov.uk  
 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



S H E F F I E L D    C I T Y     C O U N C I L 
 

Children, Young People and Family Support Scrutiny and Policy Development 
Committee 

 
Meeting held 5 December 2013 

 
 
PRESENT: Councillors Gill Furniss (Chair), Karen McGowan, Mohammad Maroof, 

Helen Mirfin-Boukouris, Lynn Rooney, Colin Ross, Andrew Sangar 
(Deputy Chair), Ian Saunders, Diana Stimely, Stuart Wattam and 
Clive Skelton (Substitute Member) 
 

 Non-Council Members in attendance:- 

 
 Jules Jones, Education Non-Council Voting Member 

 
 
   

 
1.  
 

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

1.1 Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Nikki Sharpe and 
Councillor Clive Skelton attended as the duly appointed substitute, and 
Councillors Talib Hussain and Cliff Woodcraft and Gillian Foster, Joan Stratford 
and Alison Warner (Education Non-Council Voting Members). 

 
2.  
 

EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 
 

2.1 No items were identified where resolutions may be moved to exclude the public 
and press. 

 
3.  
 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

3.1 There were no declarations of interest. 
 
4.  
 

MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 
 

4.1 The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 3rd October 2013, were 
approved as a correct record, subject to the list of Members present, which was 
amended by the addition of Councillor Stuart Wattam to the list. 

  
4.2 The Committee received and noted a paper containing an update on actions 

undertaken following the proceedings of previous meetings. 
 
5.  
 

PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS 
 

5.1 There were no questions raised or petitions submitted by members of the public. 
 
6.  
 

EDUCATIONAL ACHIEVEMENT AND STANDARDS 2013 
 

6.1 The Committee received a report of the Executive Director, Children, Young 
People and Families, on Educational Attainment 2012/13.  The report, which had 

Agenda Item 5

Page 5



Meeting of the Children, Young People and Family Support Scrutiny and Policy Development 
Committee 5.12.2013 

Page 2 of 5 
 

been requested by the Committee at its meeting held on 5th September 2013, 
contained details of the educational outcomes for children and young people 
who were eligible for end of Key Stage assessments, tests or public 
examinations in summer 2013.  The report also contained details on the 
achievement of identified groups of learners, including Black and Minority Ethnic 
(BME), Special Educational Needs (SEN), English as a Second Language (EAL) 
and Looked-after Children (LAC). 

  
6.2 In attendance for this item were Iain Peel, Interim Director, Inclusion and 

Learning Services, and Pauline Anderson, Strategic Lead – Primary. 
  
6.3 Members of the Committee raised questions and the following responses were 

provided:- 
  
 • The rankings referred only to performance nationally and in comparison with 

other Core Cities, but the statistics in terms of rankings in comparison with 
other local authorities, including neighbouring authorities, could be circulated 
on request.  Following investigations into the Early Years’ outcomes for 
Rotherham MBC, it had been identified that similar work was being carried 
out in Sheffield, but Rotherham had been undertaking such measures for a 
longer period of time, resulting in such changes in rankings.  Whilst 
considerable work had been undertaken to find out how other local 
authorities had shown bigger improvements in terms of their outcomes, it was 
accepted that more work in this area was required.  As part of the planned 
work, secondary schools would be attending a workshop, led by a school in 
Gateshead, to share ideas and receive advice on teaching methods in terms 
of mathematics, with similar events planned to be held for other subjects.  
There were also plans for officers to meet with Governing Bodies of a 
number of schools in January 2014, in order to look at how schools could 
make improvements in terms of educational outcomes.   

  
 • Whilst ESCAL, the award winning City-wide Literacy Strategy ensuring that 

‘Every Sheffield Child is Articulate and Literate’, was being used through a 
partnership approach, aiming to further embed literacy across services to 
families, children and young people and ensuring that there is a cohesive 
approach to meeting children’s and young people’s needs, it was accepted 
that the Strategy could be used more effectively and that there was a need 
for more targeted focus work in this area.  A programme focussing on 
phonics had been undertaken last year, which had proved very effective and 
had resulted in a considerable improvement in terms of attainment levels.  
However, there were only three officers in the ESCAL Team, which limited 
the scope of work which could be undertaken. 

  
 • Officers had met with the Headteachers of groups of primary schools in 

specific geographical areas to discuss educational outcomes in their 
respective areas.  As part of such discussions, the Headteachers of those 
schools which historically had an intake of higher performing pupils had been 
requested to look at how attainment levels at those schools could be 
improved even further.  If attainment levels at such schools were not as high 
as expected, the Headteachers were asked why this was the case.  It had 

Page 6



Meeting of the Children, Young People and Family Support Scrutiny and Policy Development 
Committee 5.12.2013 

Page 3 of 5 
 

been identified that even small improvements in terms of outcomes for such 
schools could result in big changes to the Authority’s rankings, but most 
importantly, to the children involved. 

  
 • Considerable work had, and would, continue to be undertaken in terms of 

future proofing, which had included the establishment of a number of learning 
partnerships in the City, whereby Headteachers would work with each other 
to work on and develop ideas to improve all aspects of schools’ operations.  
Funding from schools had been used to commission additional capacity. It 
had been identified that the most important factor of a successful school was 
the leadership, so special efforts had been made to ensure good quality 
Headteachers were appointed to the City’s schools and it was hoped that 
with good leadership, together with a number of shorter-term interventions, 
including training for teachers, teaching standards would either improve, or 
remain at a high level. 

  
 • Whilst it was accepted that schools would suffer in terms of attainment levels 

when their more able pupils moved to other schools, including the University 
Technical College, the schools and the Authority needed to focus on the 
progress of all pupils, wherever they studied.  In terms of the reporting of 
exam results of pupils at the University Technical College, although it was not 
accountable as a directly-maintained school, the Council would still monitor 
the progress of pupils, as with the Academies, and raise any concerns 
regarding attainment levels directly with all schools and academies. 

  
 • It was no longer the role of the Authority to provide direct support for 

Headteachers.  Officers now broker partnerships with other schools so they 
could share good practice and look at other ways of offering help and advice.  
The National College for Teaching and Learning Programme was also used 
for leadership development. 

  
 • The recruitment of Headteachers had been a major concern nationally for a 

number of years and it had been known that schools had advertised for posts 
up to two to three times, and received no applications.  This was considered 
to be due to the challenging role and high level of accountability. The Council 
often provided help and advice to Assistant Headteachers in terms of them 
acting up prior to applying for the post of Headteacher. Teaching School 
Alliances  provided a range of support for school staff and the Local Authority 
had actively promoted Executive Headships to secure good leadership. 

  
 • Whilst it was difficult to find 2013 national comparisons in terms of attainment 

levels regarding Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) pupils and Looked-After 
Children (LAC), although the gap was narrowing slowly, it was believed that 
Sheffield’s attainment levels were still below the 2013 national average.  
Whilst attainment levels of Looked-After Children were lower than the main 
cohort of children in schools, consideration should be given to the progress 
made by  children on an individual basis as some will have made good levels 
of progress. 

  
6.4 RESOLVED: That the Committee:- 

Page 7



Meeting of the Children, Young People and Family Support Scrutiny and Policy Development 
Committee 5.12.2013 

Page 4 of 5 
 

  
 (a) notes the contents of the report now submitted, together with the 

responses to the questions raised; and 
  
 (b) thanks Iain Peel and Pauline Anderson for attending the meeting. 
 
7.  
 

ATTAINMENT OF CHILDREN ELIGIBLE FOR THE PUPIL PREMIUM 
 

7.1 The Executive Director, Children, Young People and Families, submitted a 
report on the attainment of children eligible for the pupil premium.  The pupil 
premium had been introduced two years ago, and was designed to support 
schools in boosting the attainment of disadvantaged children and to reduce the 
gap between this group and their more advantaged (non-free school meals) 
peers. 

  
7.2 The report also contained details of the best practice workshop, led by the 

Sutton Trust, and jointly commissioned by the City Wide Learning Body and 
Birley Community College. The workshop focussed on the research undertaken 
by the Trust to measure the input which different strategies had on improving 
outcomes for pupil premium children, and the Toolkit which schools could 
employ to improve such outcomes was appended to the report. 

  
7.3 In attendance for this item were Iain Peel, Interim Director, Inclusion and 

Learning Services, and Pauline Anderson, Strategic Lead – Primary. 
  
7.4 Members of the Committee raised questions and the following responses were 

provided:- 
  
 • It was not yet clear what impact pupils receiving free school meals would 

have on the pupil premium.  It was believed that the Department for 
Education would have devised a formula in terms of calculating entitlement, 
presumably linked to entitlement to Income Support. 

  
 • The fact that the use of Teaching Assistants had a very low, or no impact, for 

a high cost, as highlighted on the Sutton Trust’s Toolkit, emphasised the 
importance of quality leadership and teaching.  If schools had both these 
qualities, they would have a far more positive impact on the Teaching 
Assistants, and therefore, hopefully improve outcomes for pupil premium 
children. 

  
 • Whilst the statistics in terms of comparisons between attainment levels of 

pupil premium children and their cohort were not yet available, there was 
evidence of the gap between the two groups narrowing at all educational 
levels, apart from Key Stage 1. 

  
 • Details of how and what individual schools were spending their pupil 

premium on should be published on their websites. 
  
7.5 RESOLVED: That this Committee:- 
  

Page 8



Meeting of the Children, Young People and Family Support Scrutiny and Policy Development 
Committee 5.12.2013 

Page 5 of 5 
 

 (a) notes the contents of the report now submitted, together with the 
responses to the questions raised; and 

  
 (b) thanks Iain Peel and Pauline Anderson for attending the meeting. 
 
8.  
 

WORK PROGRAMME 2013/14 
 

8.1 The Policy and Improvement Officer, Diane Owens, submitted a paper 
containing the Committee’s Work Programme 2013/14, indicating that there had 
been two amendments to the version circulated with the agenda, which included 
a report on Looked-After Children and Care Leavers at the meeting on 6th 
February 2014, and an update on the Early Years’ Service at the meeting on 3rd 
April 2014. 

  
8.2 Ms Owens referred to the work of the Nutrition and Hydration Working Group, 

which had been established by the Healthier Communities and Adult Social Care 
Scrutiny and Policy Development Committee, indicating that, to date, the 
Working Group had focussed its work on the Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust, and had recently produced a final report on its findings. 
Together with this report, the Working Group had recommended that its work be 
extended to including observation visits to Weston Park, Royal Hallamshire and 
Jessops Hospitals. The Working Group also indicated that it would be happy to 
undertake an observation visit to the Children’s Hospital, on behalf of this 
Committee, and report its findings to both this and the Healthier Communities 
and Adult Social Care Scrutiny and Policy Development Committee.       

  
8.3 RESOLVED: That (a) the Committee notes the contents of the Work Programme 

2013/14, including details of the changes now reported; and 
  
 (b) accepts the offer from the Nutrition and Hydration Working Group now 

reported. 
  
 
9.  
 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 

9.1 It was noted that the next meeting of the Committee would be held on Thursday, 
6th February 2014, at 2.00 pm, in the Town Hall. 

 

Page 9



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

Children, Young People & Family Support Scrutiny Committee 

Actions update for meeting on 6th February 2014 

 

Action  Minutes Update  
 

R
A
G 

Letter to MP’s regarding young people and carer’s allowance - The 
Chair requested that copies of the responses received from MP’s 
are shared with the young carers.  
 

5th 
December 
2013 

Copies of the letters have been shared with the young 
carers via Emma Hinchliffe, Young People's Involvement 
Worker, Sheffield Futures.  

 

6.4 (e) requests information to be sought from Social Care teams to 
assess how many teenage pregnancies result in adoption. 
 

10th October 
2013 

An update has been requested.  

6.4 (g) requests a report back on the wider factors surrounding 
teenage pregnancy resulting from the work carried out with the 
University of Sheffield 
 

10th October 
2013 

This work was at the planning stage in November-
December.   
 
An update on progress has been requested. 
 

 

6.4 (h) requests that a review be conducted into the quality of sex 
education currently provided for young people with Special 
Educational Needs, 
 

10th October 
2013 

DO has spoken with Sue Greig regarding this. Sue has 
confirmed with the PSHE review team that they will 
incorporate provision for children and young people with 
special educational needs into the review.  
 
The timescale for completion of the PSHE review is 
currently mid-January.  DO will catch up with Sue in late 
January / early February regarding an update on this work.  
 
An update has been requested.  
 

 

 

P
age 11



P
age 12

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 1

 
 

 
 

 
Report of: Executive Director Children Young People and Families  
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Subject: Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2012-13 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Author of Report: Sue Fiennes, Independent Chair, SSCB   
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary:  
The Annual Report is intended to be informative about the work of the SSCB 
and to make the Board accountable to child protection professionals, to those 
who fund and support safeguarding services, to service users, to elected 
members and the public of Sheffield. 
__________________________________________________________ 
 
Type of item:  The report author should tick the appropriate box  

Reviewing of existing policy  

Informing the development of new policy  

Statutory consultation  

Performance / budget monitoring report ���� 

Cabinet request for scrutiny  

Full Council request for scrutiny  

Community Assembly request for scrutiny  

Call-in of Cabinet decision   

Briefing paper for the Scrutiny Committee ���� 

Other  

 
The Scrutiny Committee is being asked to: 
 

• Receive the Report and note its content 

• Comment on and/or seek clarification on any issues raised 
___________________________________________________ 
 
Background Papers:  
Electronic copies of the Annual Report to be circulated to members 
 
Category of Report: OPEN  (please specify)   
Most reports to Scrutiny Committees should be openly available to the public. If 
a report is deemed to be ‘closed’, please add: ‘Not for publication because it 
contains exempt information under Paragraph xx of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).’ 
 

Report to Children Young People 
and Families Scrutiny Committee 

6 February 2014 

Agenda Item 7

Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



Sheffield Safeguarding Children Board

ANNUAL REPORT

2012 – 2013

www.safeguardingsheffieldchildren.org.uk

DP14402

Page 15



 

Contents Page No 
 

Chair’s Introduction 2 
Board Structure  3 

 

Section One – Sheffield Agencies Working Together  
Engagement, Participation and the Effectiveness of the Board 4 
Involving Children and Young People in the work of the SSCB 5 
Budget Information 7 
Training Information 9 
Report from the LADO – Allegations Against Professionals 17 
Learning Lessons from Reviews 20 
Report from the Child Death Overview Panel 24 
Sheffield Infant Mortality Strategy  27  

  
Section Two – The Child’s Journey  
Demographic Information and Background 30 
Early Intervention and Prevention 31 
Children’s Social Care – Children in Need 33 
Children Subject to Child Protection Plans 36 
Parent/Carer Feedback from Child Protection Conferences 44 
Looked After Children 47 
   
Section Three – SSCB Priority Areas  
Private Fostering 49 

Sexual Exploitation 50 
Domestic Abuse 54
E Safety 58 
Licensing 60 
Children Who Live in Households with Substance Misuse 63 
Work with our Faith Communities 66 
The Transitions Agenda 69 
  
Section Four – SSCB priorities for 2013/14  
SSCB Business Plan 70 

 
 
  Sheffield Safeguarding Children Board 
Floor 2, Redvers House 
Union Street 
Sheffield  
S1 2JQ 
 

www.safeguardingsheffieldchildren.org.uk 

Tel: 0114 2734450
 
Email: sscb@sheffield.gov.uk 

Page 16



2 
 

Introduction from the Independent Chair 
 
Dear Colleagues 
 
The last year has seen the move towards establishing the 
Safeguarding Children Board as a Learning Board, building on 
the previous good standards of review, audit and training. 
 
Our well established training programme has been further 
enhanced this year by linking it to the findings from the Thematic 
Review of Serious Case Reviews and Case Reviews and has 
led to a high volume of multi-agency events and seminars. The 
increased use of the seminar approach has been welcomed by 
practitioners and managers alike in terms of delivering on focus 
and time efficiency. 
 

The SSCB launched its Threshold of Need guidance this year and delivered multi-agency 
seminars to 1000 practitioners across the city building a firm foundation for consistency 
and clarity. 
 
There has been significant work over the last year on emerging safeguarding issues, 
which have included tackling the impact of New Psychoactive Substances (‘legal highs’), 
training with the taxi and hospitality trade to raise awareness of safeguarding issues and 
work within schools on e-safety issues.  
 
The Board has continued to contribute to the national safeguarding agenda through 
representation on the National Working Group for Child Sexual Exploitation, Child 
Exploitation and Online Protection (CEOP), and the national Parenting Alcohol Misuse 
Working Group.   
  
We recognise the importance of participation of young people in the work we do and last 
year young people undertook a survey on safeguarding and what it means for them to help 
inform our work. In addition the previous annual report was placed under scrutiny by a 
Young Advisors panel which was both thoughtful and challenging.  
 
The above shows a focus on quality and learning during a time of financial difficulty for all 
partner agencies. Safeguarding remains a key priority for Sheffield partners and the Board 
is determined to see development achieve more for investment.  

 
Finally, I would like to thank workers across the city for the good work over the year of this 
report and congratulate agencies on open governance and willingness to test leadership 
and practice. 
 

 
Independent Chair 
  

Page 17



3 
 

Sheffield Safeguarding Children Board Structure 
 
 

Executive Board 

Operational Board 

Practice 
Review and 

Policy  
Sub -Group 

 

 

Training and 
Workforce 

Development 
Sub-group 

 
 
 

 
Time Limited Task Groups 

Reference Groups 
 

Health 

Voluntary Community Sector 

Housing 

Education 

 

Multi Agency Training Pool 

E-Safety Project 
 

Sexual Exploitation Board 

 
Substance Misuse Project 

 
Licensing Project 

 
CDOP 

Page 18



4 
 

SECTION ONE – HOW SHEFFIELD AGENCIES WORK TOGETHER 
 
Engagement, Participation and the Effectiveness of the Board 
 
An effective LSCB is one where all partner agencies feel able to fully participate and 
engage in the business of the Board. In Sheffield we continue to achieve a high level of 
attendance at our meetings from the Executive Board through to the sub-groups and 
reference groups. There is now a clear communication pathway between all the groups 
which provides a greater understanding of the different roles and responsibilities within the 
structure and has led to an increased and shared ownership. One of this year’s priorities 
was to develop a Business Plan that identified the key safeguarding priorities for the city 
and could be delivered by all partner agencies and to achieve this we held a facilitated 
workshop to agree specific, shared priorities. Regular updates of the Business Plan are 
provided for all members. The introduction of the bi-monthly Board Officers’ report has 
ensured that all members are regularly updated on current projects and the quarterly 
newsletter provides a quick dissemination of key information. The data dashboard that 
provides quarterly updates on Serious Case Reviews (SCR) action plans, the SSCB 
Business Plan, s.11 action plans and child protection statistics has provided members with 
the data to enable effective challenge to take place.  
 
One of Sheffield’s strengths, which has been recognised by outside facilitators, has been 
the open and honest engagement of partner agencies in reviews of practice. The move 
this year to try new methods for undertaking reviews, including the participation of front 
line practitioners in the process, has been equally embraced and participants have been 
willing to share their experience to enable us to develop a methodology that best meets 
the requirements of Sheffield. Partner agencies continue to implement actions from 
reviews in a timely manner and there has been a continued willingness to engage, learn 
and embed recommendations into practice. Agencies are required to support the SSCB in 
the dissemination of key messages and are equipped to do so through resources provided 
by board officers. For example, following the workshops and seminars for the Threshold of 
Need guidance and the Thematic Review of Serious Case Reviews, training packages 
were provided via the website to enable this process to continue. Workers across all 
agencies are encouraged by their managers to attend training, seminars and conferences 
provided by the SSCB and they provide valuable resources to the board in particular for 
the multi-agency training pool and the newly created multi-agency audit group.   
 
Sheffield Safeguarding Children Board encourages independent oversight of our work and 
this is enhanced by the inclusion of two Lay Members, who sit on the Executive Board.  
The lay members provide a valuable contribution by being active participants who provide 
thoughtful contribution, effective challenge and an objective viewpoint. In addition the Child 
Death Overview Panel is also enhanced by the contribution of two lay members.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



5 
 

Involving Children and Young People in Our Work 
 
Definition 
 
Children’s participation is about listening to children’s views and giving them a say in 
decisions that affect that lives.  
   
Participation with children and young people is vital and should permeate all aspects of the 
board’s work. Our aim is to promote and develop a culture where children and young 
people’s participation in safeguarding is central to professional practice, organisational 
systems and how safeguarding is developed and provided.  
 
To keep children safe we must hear, see and act on what children tell us 
 
During 2012-13 Board projects have facilitated, supported, and enabled work to be 
undertaken with children and young people to gain an understanding from their 
perspective about their experiences with services and their concerns regarding the 
safeguarding issues affecting them. This has included the following: 
 
The Licensing Project has involved Sheffield Young Advisors in developing a flyer for the 
Fake ID awareness workshops that will be distributed via social media networks. In 
addition they have contributed towards the scripting and acting of a docu-drama that will 
be used as an educational resource for schools. 
  
Consultation has been undertaken with young people in schools regarding the production 
of body modification educational resources 
 
The SSCB along with partner agencies has devised and delivered multi-agency training to 
assist licensed traders to develop their awareness and skills so that they understand what 
makes children and young people feel safe in their environment. All training delivered 
illustrates the impact that underage drinking, or irresponsible drinking by adults, can have 
on children and young people by using quotes and information provided by children and 
young people who were involved in local surveys. The training includes the use of a DVD 
that was produced by the SSCB which gives the views of young people about what makes 
them feel safe/unsafe at licensed premises. 
 
The E-Safety Project has worked closely with young people and children consulting with 
them about e- safety issues. This includes encouraging primary and secondary aged 
children to complete a comprehensive e-safety survey which provided the city with an 
overview of the e-safety issues facing young people. Focus groups have been organised 
with children and young people to continue to build a picture of the issues facing them to 
help inform future training.  
 
A peer mentoring scheme has been developed so that young people can be equipped and 
trained to offer support to other students, run assemblies, deliver lessons to younger 
children and develop and participate in parental workshops through schools to raise 
awareness of the issues to parents of school aged children in how they may be able to 
support their children in keeping safe when on line.  
 
The SSCB has worked closely with SOVA who ran a group with young people who have 
been involved with social care/youth justice. They looked at the issues arising from the 
Munro review and supported the board in developing an understanding of what 

Page 20



6 
 

safeguarding means to young people, what the primary safeguarding concerns are for 
young people in Sheffield, how their experiences and views could help shape the work of 
the Board and service development, and how to gather feedback from children and young 
people who have had experience of working with Social Workers.  
 
We have also worked with the Sheffield Young Advisors who have developed an on line 
questionnaire around safeguarding, and have looked at the SSCB workplan and identified 
what they felt were priorities. A young person’s scrutiny panel comprising of a number of  
Young Advisors was convened  whose remit was to  read the SSCB annual report and 
meet with the SSCB Independent Chair and senior managers to scrutinise the report 
introducing a level of accountability but also to participate in the shaping of the Boards 
safeguarding priorities. 
 
Young advisors were also commissioned to undertake some ‘youth proofing’ for the 
principles of best practice for transition from children’s to adult services.  
 
The Substance Misuse Project is part of a national working group listening to children and 
young people living with parents who misuse alcohol (Silent Voices 2012). The Hidden 
Harm Strategy is currently being revised across the city. User Consultation is a vital part of 
the process of revision. Specifically the views/voices of  children and young people 
attending WAM (a group for children whose parents misuse drugs and alcohol) and The 
Corner  are being sought regarding services / resources / processes and what they feel 
help improve their family situation  but also what needs developing further. The SSCB 
along with partner services devise and deliver a range of multi-agency training to assist 
practitioners develop their awareness and skills in working with children and families 
where there are substance misuse issues. All training delivered illustrates the impact of 
parental drug and alcohol misuse by using quotes and information provided by children 
and young people attending WAM. The training also utilises DVD’s produced by the 
Children’s Society that tell the stories of children living in households with parental / carer 
drug and alcohol misuse. 
  

Page 21



7 
 

Budget Information 
 
Income and Expenditure 2012-13 
 

Income  Expenditure  

c/f  2011-12                        £151,344 c/f £123,119 

    
Contributions:  Employees £308,304 

Sheffield City Council £101,000 Multi Agency Training £    9,084 
Health £101,000 Practice Review & Standards:  
South Yorkshire Police £  40,500 } Document Production £  17,550 
Probation £    6,500 } Tri-X (Procedures) £    3,135 
Cafcass £       550 Board running costs £  13,340 

  SCR’s £           0 

Munro Grant (c/f) £  41,133 Independent Chair £    5,500 

  Mosque Advisor £  24,300 

Child Death Overview (CDOP) £  76,000 Sexual Exploitation Service £  13,695 

    
TOTAL £518,027 TOTAL £518,027 

 
Projected Expenditure 2013-14 
 

Activity Cost 

Independent Chair £    6,000 
Board Manager £  59,000 
Secretariat £  18,000 
Operating Costs £  25,000 

  
Multi-Agency Training £72,000 
Manager + Business Support / Training Strategy & Programme  

  
Practice Review & Standards  
Coordinator + Research & Audit Officer (Safeguarding Evaluation) £  64,000 
Business Support £  23,000 
SCR’s / Publicity / Campaigns £  30,000 

  
Policy & Procedure £    5,000 
Tri X  /  Sheffield Procedures & Policies (2 years) 

  
E Safety Project / Manager  (50% traded services) £  28,000 

  
Community Adviser £  10,000 

  
SUBTOTAL (CORE BUDGET) £340,000 

  
Child Death Overview arrangements  (grant funded EIG) £  76,000 
TOTAL (OVERALL COSTS) £416,000 

 
Indicative Agency Contributions 

Page 22



8 
 

 

Agency Formula 2012 - 13 2013 - 14 
(-5%) 

SCC (CYPS) 40% £101,000 £  96,000 
Health (PCT) 40% £101,000 £  96,000 
SY Police 16% £  40,500 £  38,500 
Probation 4% £  10,000 £    9,500 

  (£6,500 actual) (£6,500 actual) 

Sub Total 100% £253,000 £240,000 

    
c/f  £  94,000 £100,000 

   (estimated) 

TOTAL  £347,000 £340,000 

 
Sexual Exploitation Service – New model 

 
Agency Sexual Exploitation 

2012-13 
New Service    Sexual 

Exploitation   
2013-14 

Variation 

SCC (CYPF) £  27,000 £  28,700 + £1,700 

 (35%)   
Health (PCT) £  22,000 £  24,600 + £2,600 

 (30%)   
SY Police £  27,000 £  28,700 + £1,700 

 (35%)   

TOTAL £  76,000 £  82,000 + £6,000 

 
 

 
 
  

Page 23



9 
 

Training for Professionals and Volunteers 
 
Local Safeguarding Children Boards are responsible for safeguarding and promoting the 
welfare of children; this includes ensuring that there are appropriate training and learning 
opportunities for people who work with children and families. 
 
Training covering a wide variety of safeguarding issues is delivered by a range of projects 
and services, in line with the SSCB training strategy. Information regarding all the training 
offered during the year has been collated below.  For more details on courses available, 
please see www.safeguardingsheffieldchildren.org.uk. 
 
SSCB Multi Agency Training  
 
The SSCB provides a comprehensive programme of high quality multi-
agency training covering a range of issues including working with 
uncooperative and hostile families and engaging fathers and father 
figures among others. The key aims are enabling participants to 
achieve: 
 

• A shared understanding of the tasks, processes, principles, 
roles and responsibilities for safeguarding children and 
promoting their welfare. 

• More effective and integrated services at both the strategic and 
individual case level. 

• Improved communication and information sharing between 
professionals including a common understanding of key terms, 
definitions and thresholds for action. 

• Effective working relationships, including an ability to work in 
multi-disciplinary groups or teams. 

• Sound and child focused assessments and decision-making. 

• Learning from Serious Case Reviews (SCRs) and reviews of 
child deaths. 

 
The programme of training supports the SSCB Business Plan and is 
responsive to local need and emerging priorities.  
Courses are open to any practitioner in Sheffield working with children, 
including the voluntary and community sector.  
 
New course introduced this year: 
 

! Threshold Guidance Workshops 
 
A common understanding of thresholds of need is essential for 
effective multi-agency working in order to safeguard children at an 
early stage.  These seminars provide guidance to help practitioners 
assess need and identify and involve the right service at the right time 
to support children, young people and their families. 
 
 
 

Numbers 
Trained 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

848 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1029 

 
 
 

Page 24



10 
 

 
 
SSCB E-learning  
 
Seven on line courses are now offered allowing staff to study at a time 
and place that is most convenient to them. The courses are: 

• Basic Awareness of Child Abuse and Neglect - an introductory 
level course. 

• Hidden Harm – the effects of parental problem substance misuse 
on children. 

• Safer Recruitment. 

• Runaways. 

• Safeguarding in leadership. 

• Child trafficking. 

• Safe sleeping for babies. 
 
. SSCB One Day Conferences 
 

• Confronting Difficulties & Improving Practice 
This included sessions on professional challenge and engaging 
fathers/father figures.  

• Meeting the Safeguarding Needs of Children & Young People 
age 13-18  
The focus of the sessions were on sexual exploitation, E-safety, 
legal highs (NPS) and the launch of the Transitions Best Practice 
guidance.

 
 

!"#

$#

%%# $"#

&#

'#

'#

!%'#

"#

%(#

%%)#

$&#
*'!#

%$#

*#

*+#

(+)#

SSCB Multi-Agency Safeguarding Children Training 
Attendance by Agency 2012-2013 

,-../0123#4-/25#678.9#

:;<#<57=7>?#

@257A#

BA1C827##

BA-D8DE-0#<7AC1F7#

<,,GH?/>2#<7AC1F79#

<,,G,-../01E79#

<,,G,4BI#

<,,GB>8F7#

<,,G<57=7>?#;-.79#

<57=7>?#,51>?A70J9#:;<#6A/92#

<57=7>?#I/2/A79#KL0F>/?10M#,-007N1-09O#

<57=7>?#678F510M#;-9PE8>9#:;<#6A/92#

<57=7>?#;78>25#Q#<-F18>#,8A7#

<4#I1A7#Q#R79F/7#

<4#B->1F7#

S->/028A3T,-../0123TI8125#<7F2-A#

Numbers 

Trained 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  2405 courses 
allocated 

 

 
 
 

 
 

154 
 

 
229 

 

Page 25



11 
 

SSCB Lunchtime Seminars 
 
This year lunchtime seminars were offered covering various subjects 
including: 

• Thematic Review of Sheffield Serious Case Reviews & Case 
Reviews. 

• Domestic Homicide Reviews & Domestic Abuse Risk 
Assessment. 

• The work of the UK Border Agency & safeguarding. 

• Safeguarding children and young people who have caring 
responsibilities. 

• The Mental Capacity Act and deprivation of liberty safeguards. 

• The importance of attunement and regulation for children’s 
development. 

• Female Genital Mutilation. 
 
Education Safeguarding Training 
 
The Education Advisors offer a range of training for education staff 
including basic, advanced and refresher safeguarding courses.   
 
Other training includes: 

• School governors. 

• Sessions for volunteers/support staff supporting those students 
with English as a second or other language/ home school 
volunteers. 

 
Licensing Project Training 
 
The core training delivered by the licensing project is ‘Safeguarding 
Children at Licensed Premises’. This training is delivered on a multi-
agency basis to licensees, with contributions from the youth service, 
police and trading standards. In house training for licensed traders is 
also provided. 
 
In addition, safeguarding / licensing awareness training has been 
offered to, Children’s Social Care, Hoteliers, South Yorkshire Police, 
Head shop traders (new psychoactive substances) & Taxi/private hire 
traders. 
 
Safeguarding and tattoo and body modification has been provided to 
teaching staff.  
 
A presentation was given regarding the Sheffield Events Guidance to 
Sheffield Hallam University events management students. 
 

Numbers 
Trained 

 

 

             202 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

3473 
 

 
 

87 
98 
 
 
 
 

 
108 

 
 
 
 

 
373 

 
 

 
8 
 
 

15 

Page 26



12 
 

Early Years Safeguarding Training 
 
The Early Years Advisors offer introductory and advanced safeguarding 
and child protection training. 
 
In addition there have been joint early years and health focused training 
regarding the importance of engaging fathers and father figures and the 
learning from Serious Case Reviews.  
 
Substance Misuse Service 
 
The core training delivered by the service is the ‘Substance Misuse and 
Safeguarding Children Multi Agency Training’. 
 
In addition there were: 

• Half day refresher – working with hostile and uncooperative 
parents where there is drug and alcohol misuse. 

• Workshops at the local Evidence Informed Practice conference. 

• Single agency update sessions on substance misuse and 
safeguarding children. 

• Volunteer training. 

• Introduction to the Sheffield Alcohol Screening Tool. 
 
Social Care Practice Seminars: 

• Understanding the effects of drugs and alcohol on the unborn 
baby: top tips for multi-agency working. 

• Safeguarding children and substance misuse for social workers. 
 
E Safety Project 
 
The SSCB E-safety project has delivered training and e safety 
awareness sessions to a wide range of organisations, including:  

• School staff training (in schools or on courses). 

• Governors of schools/colleges. 

• Other professionals. 
 
LADO (Local Authority Designated Officer) 
 
Training provided regarding the procedure for managing an allegation 
against people who have contact with children (professionals and 
volunteers). Two groups trained: 

• Managers & HR professionals at Sheffield Teaching Hospitals. 

• Community Football Coaches, Sheffield Wednesday. 
 
 

Numbers 

Trained 
 

975 
 
 

32 
 
 
 
 
 
 

49 
 
 

 
529 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
88 

 
15 
 
 
 

 
 

425 
70 
40 
 
 
 
 

 
 

20 
40 
 

Page 27



13 
 

 
Child Death Overview Panel 
 
Sheffield Infant Mortality Stakeholder Event: Reducing Sudden Infant 
Death; A review of Initiatives from around the Country.  
To raise the profile of the Sudden Infant Death agenda and gather 
learning from nationwide initiatives aimed at reducing Sudden Infant 
Deaths.  There was a focus on the successes and challenges of 
implementing initiatives and also on the impact on Sudden Infant Death 
rates.  
 
Health Safeguarding Training 
 
This training includes ‘Safeguarding and promoting the welfare of the 
child for health practitioners’, GP training, which also involves other 
clinical and non-clinical staff (seminars, PLI (Protected Learning 
Initiative) event and in house training), training aimed at CAMHS, 
Health Visitors and Pharmacists.  
 
Safeguarding Children’s Service  
 
Understanding Fractures; Protecting Children Conference 
There are times when groups of professionals from different agencies 
are required to meet together to determine whether injuries presented 
in young children should be subject to child protection procedures. This 
often includes crucial decisions as to whether such children can be 
safely discharged to the care of their parents. The aim of the day was 
to: 

• Describe the local context. 

• Provide up to date expert information about fractures and bone 
disorders that is accessible to a range of professionals. 

• Consider the evidential requirements of the criminal justice and 
family court systems. 

• Discuss joint decision making. 
 
Serious Case Reviews 
 

• IMR Training Day; Multi-agency training for those that complete 
individual management reviews for Serious Case Reviews and 
Domestic Homicide Reviews.  

• Thematic Review of Sheffield Serious Case & Learning Lessons 
Reviews; The findings of this analysis have been shared with 
various professionals through presentations at the EIP (Evidence 
Informed practice), to MAST and Children’s Social Care.#
##

#

#

Total number of training contacts in the year =  12,691 1 
  

                                            
1
 This is the number of attendees at training, briefings, workshops and seminars. Some professionals will have attended 

more than one event.  

Numbers 
Trained 

 
 

105 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1014 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

70 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

68 
 
 

122 
 

Page 28



14 
 

Feedback from Training  

 
  

 
 
Conferences (Regional & National) 
 
In addition members of the SSCB were asked to speak at a number of 
regional and national conferences. These included: 
 
BLAST conference, Leeds. April 2012. E-safety workshops.  
 
National Working Group. Child Sexual Exploitation. Licensing 
presentation on CSE at licensed premises. 
 
SSCB Licensing presentation at CSE safeguarding regional event, 
Leeds.
 
Doncaster safety advisory group. Licensing presentation regarding 
Sheffield events guidance. 
 
Whole Family Support for Drug & Alcohol Misusers. Community Care 
Conference, London, September 2012. 
 
 
 

Total number of conference contacts =  355   
 

Number of 

attendees 
 

            
 

30 

 
75 
 
 

180 
 
 

 
10 
 
 

60 
 

‘It was great to learn alongside 
people from such a wide range of 
agencies - helped me understand 
roles and appreciate how we are 
all working towards the same 
ends!’ 
Working Together – Nov’12 

‘This was the best training I 
have attended and would 
definitely recommend the 
course to others’ 
 

Substance Misuse – Sept ‘12 

“This will be a great reference 
tool when assessing families 
and planning interventions – 
will focus the decision making 
and help reduce silo working” 

 
Thresholds of Need Guidance – Jan ‘13 

‘Another excellent training 
session from the SSCB, 

many thanks’ 
Lunchtime seminar – March ‘13 

Page 29



15 
 

Raising Awareness – Seminars and Workshops for Parents and 
Young People 
 
Although the majority of training delivered is for professionals and 
volunteers working with children, some seminars and awareness 
raising sessions have been provided for parents and young people. 
These include: 
 
E safety 

• Parent workshops 

• Bespoke E-safety training for Y5 & 6th form pupils 
 
In addition, the E-Safety project had an e-safety stall within the Disney 
Store, Meadowhall, to meet parents and promote knowledge of e-
safety. 
 
Licensing 

• False ID (legal consequences & the risk of using false ID) for 
young people 

• Tattoo & body modification – young people 
 
 
 

Total number of training contacts with parents & young people =  501   
 
Evaluation and the Impact of Training 
 
The amount, and range, of safeguarding training delivered by the SSCB and partner 
agencies demonstrates the robust arrangements that are in place to ensure that all staff 
have access to appropriate learning opportunities. Whilst many courses are part of a 
repeating ‘rolling’ programme there is also a clear commitment to respond to emerging 
issues and changing priorities. 
 
The introduction of Lunchtime seminars, new from June 2012, have provided a valuable 
forum for responding to training needs in a timely and convenient manner; 
 
“I really like these short sessions, I find it difficult to attend full day training and these are a 
really good way of keeping up to date and improving my practice” 
(Learning from Serious Case Reviews seminar Nov ’12). 

 
In response to an identified need across partner agencies, an extensive programme of 
Thresholds of Need Guidance seminars were also introduced in 2012/13.  These seminars 
were both very well attended, attracting over 1000 staff, and very effective, with a 
practitioner self- assessment of confidence and knowledge both before and after the 
seminar indicating an overall improvement rate of 70%. 
  

Number of 

attendees 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

146 
300 

 
 
 
 

 
 

10 
 

45 
 

Page 30



16 
 

All courses and events are subject to an end of session evaluation and all consistently 
evaluate highly. The evaluation process indicates that training makes a difference to the 
practice of attendees in a number of ways, including: 
 

• Increased knowledge and awareness of safeguarding issues. 

• Improved understanding of the safeguarding roles and responsibilities of other 
practitioners and agencies and acknowledgment of the importance of working 
together to safeguard children. 

• Increased understanding of thresholds, levels of concern and making referrals to 
Children’s Social Care. 

• Increased confidence in own role, leading to more confident practice and feeling 
better able to challenge decision making of others. 

 
The evaluation also provides an opportunity for practitioners to identify other professional 
development needs to which we respond where possible. For example, a new 1 day 
course ‘Working with Uncooperative and Hostile Families’ has been developed in 
response to requests from a number of practitioners.  
 
Training Priorities for 2013-14  
 
Whilst the key priority for training in 2013-14 will be to ensure that there continues to be a 
wide range of high quality  training and learning opportunities available to all staff working 
with children and families, a number of specific priorities have been identified; 
 

• To develop and coordinate the delivery of a city wide awareness raising programme 
that addresses the issue of Child Sexual Exploitation.  

• To ensure that the voice of the child is reflected in all training programmes. 

• To review and revise all programmes to take account of the new Working Together 
to Safeguard Children statutory guidance (April 2013), and the significant changes 
taking place in the way that SSCB partner agencies operate. 

• To encourage managers to support their staff pre and post training to ensure 
messages from training are embedded in practice, thus contributing to improved 
outcomes for children and families. This will be included in a conference for 
Managers planned for Autumn 2013. 

 
 
 
  

Page 31



17 
 

Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) 
 
Managing Allegations against Staff and Volunteers who work 
with children and young people  
 
The role of the LADO and the guidance contained in Working Together to Safeguard 
Children (2013) enables services, the police and social care, to work together, as required, 
to assist employers in deciding whether a complaint or allegation is true or not. The 
guidance seeks to provide a standard for enquiries to take place in a fair manner, to 
ensure that there is a speedy resolution of allegations. It also provides a process to 
remove those unsuitable people from working within the children’s workforce. 
 
The key achievements of the last year have been: 
 

• Meeting with over 20 NHS personnel and managers to explain the role of the LADO 
and why it is relevant to the majority of NHS staff who have patient contact.  

 

• Meeting with the Detective Inspector within South Yorkshire Police who has 
responsibility for standards and discipline and leads the team that investigates 
complaints regarding police officers.  
 

• Ensuring that an explanation of the outcome of an allegation is given to the child or 
young person themselves through the agencies involved (in response to a 
suggestion by the Young Advisors to last years SSCB Annual Report).  

 

• Working closely with a Community Advisor for Mosques and Madrasah’s, a protocol 
has been developed to support employers investigating allegations in situations 
where there is no role for the police or social care (for example, the Community 
Advisor works directly with the employer to, interview witnesses, establish facts and 
reach a conclusion on the balance of probabilities regarding the allegation). 
 

 
Notifications of Allegations 2012-13 
 
79 notifications were referred to the LADO during 2012-13 (as compared to 86 in the 
previous year) regarding named individuals. There were 6 further notifications made 
regarding unnamed persons (entirely from within madrasahs). 

 

Page 32



18 
 

 
 
Once again the education sector continues to be the area where most allegations are 
made and once again our figures are consistent on a year on year basis that between 40 
and 50 % of all allegations are made regarding employees from this sector. They are also 
consistent with figures nationally collated by York University.   
 

 
 
In terms of outcomes there have been no criminal convictions as a result of an allegation, 
and at the time of writing there have been no dismissals but there are matters still 
outstanding in a number of cases where dismissal remains an option. In the vast majority 
of cases where employers find there is substance to the allegation the matter is dealt with 
by additional support or training or through a disciplinary process falling short of dismissal. 
 
Priorities for 2013-14 

• In the forthcoming year the LADO intends to provide information and training across 
the sector regarding the management of allegations in the light of the Government’s 
publication of ”Working Together to Safeguarding Children” – 2013. 

• The LADO plans to offer Safeguarding refresher sessions to the Madrasah Child 
Protection Officers and establish basic safeguarding training for all teachers in 
Madrasah’s and supplementary schools. 

  

+#

'#

*+#

*'#

(+#

('#

$+#

$'#

!""#$%&'()*

+#

*+#

(+#

$+#

%+#

'+#

"+#

U8>1F1-/9# V0W-/0?7?# V09/D9280F1827?# :-#W/A257A#8FE-0#

8X7A#101E8>#

F-091?7A8E-0#

HFE-0#28Y70#D3#

7.P>-37A#

+,-.'/#)*

Page 33



19 
 

Learning Lessons from Reviews 
 
Serious Case Reviews & Case Reviews 
 
Sheffield Safeguarding Children Board is keen to learn from practice and this year we 
commissioned and completed one Learning Lessons Review. This was on a case that fell 
below the threshold for a Serious Case Review but where the Board felt learning across 
agencies would result from an in depth review. To enhance the learning process we 
commissioned a review using the Serious Incident Learning Process (SILP), which 
included front line practitioners who had worked with the family in the review process. The 
review was well supported by the partner agencies in Sheffield who provided an honest 
and open analysis of their agency’s engagement.  
 
Several areas of good practice were identified within the review and it was clear that many 
professionals showed a commitment and a level of persistence in working with the parents 
in the best interests of the child. 
 
The issues arising from the review included: 
 

• Recognising Vulnerability >the parents had experienced difficult, abusive 
childhoods and were known to Children’s Social Care in other local authorities. 
Parental risk and vulnerability is a common theme which often emerges in both 
national and local reviews. Practitioners were not able to recognise all of the 
relevant parental vulnerabilities due to a failure to access relevant historical 
information held by organisations within other local authorities.   

• Safeguarding Information Gathering >Information gathering at the start of an 
assessment is crucial to enable effective risk analysis and appropriate decision 
making. It is essential that the relevant information is efficiently and speedily 
collated and that all practitioners should be encouraged to robustly pursue 
information held by other local authorities and within other local organisations in a 
timely manner with the support of their managers.  

• Early Prevention and Intervention Services >Early interventions were not provided 
to the family in a timely way. It is anticipated that the introduction of the integrated 
front door will assist in the removal of delay and resolve communication issues lost 
in the current system of referral and consideration prior to allocation.   

• Assessments >the pre-birth assessments of universal services and children’s social 
care were not fully informed and the analysis of risk was flawed. The result was that 
the work identified did not take place before the child was discharged from hospital.  

• Child Protection Plans >the plans produced at the Child Protection Conference 
lacked focus and were unrealistic and remained unchallenged by partner agencies.   

• Hospital Discharge >the decision was taken to discharge the child from hospital 
without the planned parenting assessments having been concluded and without 
multi-agency consideration at a discharge planning meeting. It is recommended that 
the SSCB should review the work completed thus far regarding discharge planning 
meetings, establishing a wider group to develop it and progress it to sign off by 
relevant agencies. 

 
  

Page 34



20 
 

The primary purpose for conducting reviews is to embed the lessons learnt into the daily 
practice of frontline workers. The SSCB is keen to ensure this happens through rigorous 
monitoring of action plans arising from reviews. Agencies are expected to update action 
plans on a regular basis and once completed provide evidence to the SSCB to support the 
implementation. Where progress is delayed or evidence does not sufficiently address the 
recommendation, the agency is supported to make the required changes.  Where this fails 
to result in action, the SSCB Independent Chair challenges the agency at a senior level to 
ensure action is taken. Three action plans were agreed as completed by the Board this 
year. The Learning Lesson Review detailed above is currently being monitored for 
progress.  
 
The dissemination of key messages from reviews is central and agencies are expected to 
share the findings with their workers. In addition, the SSCB provides learning briefs for use 
in training or supervision and shares the learning through presentations at key 
safeguarding events.   
 
A Serious Case Review was commissioned in February 2013 and will be reported on 
following the conclusion of the criminal proceedings.  
2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

                                            
2
 The stages of thematic analysis were adapted from those suggested by Braun & Clarke (2006). 

Thematic Analysis of Sheffield Cases of Concern 
 
One of the key priorities during 2012-13 was to undertake a thematic review of the 
Serious Case Reviews completed in Sheffield.  This analysis focused on Serious Case 
Reviews & Learning Lessons Reviews that were completed between December 2005 – 
April 2012 with the aim of identifying themes that have occurred across cases and/or 
over significant time periods. The results of this have been used to inform both training 
and practice. 
 
The analysis2 resulted in 6 overall themes, each containing a number of ‘sub themes’. 
 
1. Public Involvement 
Apathy v’s Public concern: Two reviews raised the issue that ‘neither the extended 
family nor the community felt able to play their part in safeguarding the children’ (2005). 
This led to the start of an ongoing campaign ‘making safeguarding everybody’s 
business.’ In the more recent reviews there was evidence of relatives and members of 
the public reporting concerns to professionals or becoming involved in situations. 
However, the response from professionals wasn’t always what they expected. This 
issue has been recognised nationally, ‘A recurring message in these serious case 
reviews is the important role of adults who are in a position to speak on behalf of the 
child!!..but their views were not always taken seriously enough’ (Ofsted, 2011). 
 
2. Everything is ok  
There were examples of how professionals didn’t always recognise safeguarding issues 
or the vulnerability factors in the families. This was for two main reasons: 

• Normal for community: In two reviews professionals accepted that the children 
were ‘one of a number of children like this’ (2005). In response professionals 
lowered their expectations of parenting and childcare and developed thresholds 
that were too high.  

 

Page 35



21 
 

 
 

 

• Misplaced optimism: Evidence was found of professionals working with an 
overoptimistic view of the situation. The most commonly occurring reason for this 
was when professionals didn’t recognise, know, or collate the full family history or 
the vulnerabilities that exist. ‘Assessments failed to consider the historical 
information regarding this couple. Agencies failed to consider the multiple risk 
factors!..would result in them struggling to parent’ (2011). 

 
3. Assessment, Assessment, Assessment 
There were 5 main issues regarding assessment identified: 

• Holding an ‘assessment mindset’ is seeing every encounter with a family as an 
opportunity to re-evaluate the situation.  This was lacking when professionals 
worked with the ‘start again approach’, got ‘stuck’ (reaching a conclusion from 
which they didn’t move from even when new information contradicted this) or 
assessments lacked rigour.  

• There was evidence of professionals working in ‘narrow silos’, dealing with 
situations in isolation and not looking beyond this: ‘there is a picture painted of 
services that focus on an individual task or issue rather than taking a holistic 
approach’ (2010).   

• Downgrading of risk: Professionals closed cases when there was no evidence of 
any information to inform this decision.  

• Recognition of risk: Universal Services. Reviews highlighted that although many 
agencies within universal services were in contact with the family, they didn’t 
recognise the circumstances the children were living in, ‘there was adequate 
information to alert practitioners to potential risk and with an effective risk 
assessment tool coupled with professional judgement within universal services 
an earlier identification of potential risks could have occurred’ (2011).  

• Communication: The results locally are in line with the national findings as this 
was an issue in 83% of reviews. 

 
4. Protection 
This occurred where professionals failed to keep their focus on the child, failed to see 
things from the child’s perspective, didn’t see and speak to the child on their own or 
failed to hold the child’s safety and wellbeing as the most important aspect of their work. 
This has also been found repeatedly in national analysis (Ofsted, 2010).  
 
Some of the reviews involved children that were 2 years or younger and these 
highlighted the vulnerability of the very young.   
 
5. Challenge and responsibilities 

• Challenging parents >Professionals have a responsibility to challenge parents 
when necessary, but this didn’t happen in some cases ‘statements made by the 
parents were too quickly accepted without professionals feeling the need to 
check the information out’(2011).  

 

Page 36



22 
 

  

• Evasive/manipulative parents >The main issues were working hard to keeping 
parents ‘on side’; parents pressurising professionals to alter reports or refusing 
access to the child and/or property; parents giving professionals incorrect 
information and the challenges for universal services. The difficulties of working 
with manipulative parents were highlighted by Lord Laming (Victoria Climbie 
inquiry, 2003) and again in the Baby Peter SCR, Haringey (2009). 

• Fathers/male carers are ‘not important’ >In some reviews the fathers/partners 
were not known or their role was not fully considered by the professionals 
involved.  

• Professional responsibility >To challenge other professionals when necessary. 
There were situations in some of the reviews where this did not happen.   

• Professionals made assumptions of responsibility, that others were monitoring 
the situation or they had made a referral and their responsibility had ended ‘They 
assumed that action or monitoring was being undertaken by others. This 
assumption was sometimes unfounded’ (2011)  

 
6. Professional knowledge and support 

• Knowing your client - what is important? There were 2 reviews that required 
specific knowledge, without this, professionals lacked the confidence in 
intervening and were not able to support parents. 

• Where were the good practice guidelines? There were examples of 
professionals’ not following the practice guidelines that were in place. This has 
been reported as an issue nationally, ‘there had been a failure to implement and 
ensure good practice rather than an absence of the required framework and 
procedures’ (Ofsted, 2010). 

  
Conclusion 
 
The analysis has highlighted a number of interconnecting themes relevant to Sheffield. 
These are similar to those found in the national summaries but the analysis has been 
able to provide clear evidence of those that are specific to the local area. Although it 
may seem surprising that there are themes that are still arising, even when 
recommendations have been made and action plans have been completed, this is not 
just an issue seen in Sheffield but has been identified nationally. Sheffield agencies 
have completed the action plans from reviews in a timely and robust manner but the 
issues identified through this thematic analysis show us that there are safeguarding 
challenges that cannot be resolved simply through making SMART recommendations 
but require a cultural change in the way that professionals work and are thus more 
difficult to achieve. 

 

Page 37



23 
 

Report from the Child Death Overview Panel 
 
Sheffield Safeguarding Children Board has specific procedures in place when a child who 
is under the age of 18 dies.  The key requirements are that we; 
 

• Have a rapid response by a group of key professionals who come together for the 
purpose of enquiring into and evaluating the unexpected death of a child 

• Have an overview panel of key professionals who come together to review the 
deaths of all children under the age of 18 who are resident in Sheffield. 

 
In September 2012 Sheffield held a Safe Sleep Conference, where professionals were 
invited from across the country to present their regional work. Professor Ed Mitchell was 
the Key Note Speaker, talking about the success that New Zealand has had with their 
preventative programs for Safe Sleep. Professionals reported back that they found the day 
beneficial and it raised awareness of campaigns in other areas to prevent Sudden Infant 
Death.  
 
Representatives from the four South Yorkshire Child Death Overview Panels met for a 
special meeting to review child deaths in South Yorkshire since the start of the CDOP 
process, where death by hanging or suicide by hanging was deemed to be the cause of 
death. 12 deaths were discussed from across the four panel’s, with the children aged 
between 8 and 17. Deaths by hanging in children are rare events in each locality and the 
purpose of the session was to understand if there were any potentially modifiable themes 
emerging amongst these deaths. Key areas for work identified were; 
 

• Children need to be offered support following bereavement. 

• Risks posed by rope swings or home-made swings. 

• Prescribed drugs with side effects of known psychiatric disturbance/ suicidal 
ideation. 

• Review support offered to vulnerable homeless young people. 

• Interventions for young people with a history of suicide attempts or self-harm. 
 
Cases 
 
In 2012-13, there were 40 deaths of Sheffield children reported – 22 male and 18 female.  
10 of these (25%) were unexpected.  Unexpected deaths require follow up by a multi-
agency Rapid Response Team (RRT), to ascertain the exact circumstances surrounding a 
child’s death to assist the Child Death processes.  

Page 38



24 
 

 
  
 

 
Age Distribution 
 
A child that shows any signs of life at birth is classified as a live birth and therefore is 
reviewed by CDOP. This accounts for the relatively high numbers of neonatal deaths 
(babies dying between 0-27 days) some babies being born so prematurely that they are 
not viable.  Children remain more vulnerable in the early years of life. The rates of child 
deaths decrease after the first year and then are likely to be due to accidents or life limiting 
conditions. 
 

 

 

 
Panel findings and recommendations 
 
The Panel reviewed 39 deaths through the year.  Members identified modifiable factors in 
6 (15%) cases.  This means that in the deaths of 6 children there were one or more factors 
which may have contributed to the death of the child and which, by means of locally or 
nationally achievable interventions, could be modified to reduce the risk of future child 
deaths. 
 

+#

*+#

(+#

$+#

%+#

'+#

"+#

!+#

(++)G+&# (++&G*+# (+*+G**# (+**G*(# (+*(G*$##

0,/1#2*'3*4#%-5)*6(*75#8#"4*%(4*-5#*(,/1#2*'3*-5')#*956.5*9#2#*

,(#:;#.-#4**

:/.D7A#-W#?78259## @W#Z51F5[#0/.D7A#2582#Z7A7#/07NP7F27?#

+#

*#

(#

$#

%#

'#

"#

!#

)#

&#

*+#

+G(!#\839## ()G$"%#\839## *#G#%#478A9## '#G#&#478A9## *+#G#*%#478A9## *'#G#*!#478A9##

!$#*<6)-261,&'(*'3*4#%-5*=>?=@?A*

U8>7# I7.8>7#

Page 39



25 
 

The Panel made a number of recommendations that are now being acted upon. These 
are: 

• Where a child has multiple disabilities, families can find it hard to navigate the 
system of care and support.  The Panel recommended that where a number of 
professionals are involved in the care of the child, there should be a lead care co-
ordinator identified for the child. 

• Parents need to be able to support their teenage children if they are taking drugs.  
In order that parents know where and how to access this support a leaflet has been 
produced to inform them of the early intervention services that are available in 
Sheffield. 

• Slovakian children receive routine vaccinations in their home country that are not 
included in the standard UK vaccination schedule.  The Panel recommended that 
Slovakian children entering the UK part way through their vaccination programme 
should receive the same immunisations that they would receive at home in order to 
promote their general health.  This is due to be implemented by Public Health in the 
next couple of months. Slovakian children are also receiving Hepatitis B 
vaccinations. 

• It is essential that young people comply with treatment and medication provided to 
them, and they may require additional support to achieve this.  Sheffield Children’s 
Hospital are working to ensure that this support is provided when needed by 
identifying an individual who can work with the young person. 

• A Sudden Infant Death highlighted the particularly transient lifestyles of the 
Traveller community, and the impact this can have on the child’s sleeping 
arrangements.  This was highlighted with the Health Visitors serving this community 
so that they can ensure safe sleep practices are discussed regularly with families.   

 
Priorities for 2013/14 
 

• To review the current Rapid Response provision in Sheffield and consider options 
for extending the availability of health staff for this. 

• Develop a Work Plan based on the information that was collated at the South 
Yorkshire CDOP that discussed deaths by hanging.  

• Implement any changes required by the new Working Together, published April 
2013. 

 
  

Page 40



26 
 

Sheffield Infant Mortality Strategy  
 
Sudden Infant Death Work Stream of Sheffield Infant Mortality Strategy  
 
The Sudden Infant Death (SID) work stream is a multi-agency group of professionals that 
aim to reduce the SID rate in Sheffield from 0.77 per 1000 live births to 0.40 per 1000 
births by 2020.  The current national average SID rate is 0.42 per 1000 live births.  The 
group works effectively to progress the SID section of the delivery plan for the Infant 
Mortality Strategy and is led by the Safeguarding Children Service and Public Health.   
 
Main achievements 
 
National Conference on Safe Sleep practice 
This took place on 17th September 2012 and was very well attended by people from all 
over the country.  Ed Mitchell, Professor of Child Health in Auckland, New Zealand, was 
the guest speaker.  Other presentations were given from professionals locally and 
nationally on good and innovative practice on safe sleep in their area.  Good feedback was 
received from attendees and the knowledge gained has helped inform practice in 
Sheffield. 
 
E-learning 
An e-learning package has been developed for professionals working across all sectors, to 
promote the messages of safe sleep.  This was in conjunction with the virtual college and 
several other areas were involved, which helped keep the costs down.  The package 
became available in the autumn 2012 and at the end of April 213 number of workers had 
completed it and 531 have applied to do the course.  Positive comments have been 
received about the usefulness and relevance of the course.   
 
The e-learning can be applied for at: 
www.safeguardingsheffieldchildren.org.uk/welcome/safeguarding-children-training.html. 
Workers in all sectors are encouraged to complete the e-learning, especially if they visit 
families in their own homes. 
 
Work Stream Membership 
During this year the membership of the group has been widened to include more agencies.  
Prior to this, it was felt that the safe sleep messages were not  reaching a wide enough 
range of workers.  Membership now includes representatives from Social Care, South 
Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service, the Private, Voluntary and Independent Sector, MAST, 
Bereavement Services at Sheffield Children’s Hospital, Paediatric Liaison, Substance 
Misuse Services, Housing and others. 
 
Multi-agency Working 
The meetings are well attended and there is good cooperation from participants to 
promote safe sleep in their agencies.  A multi-agency policy on safe sleep was ratified by 
the Operational Board of SSCB, thereby supporting work in all agencies in this area.   
 
Publicity 
Leaflets and posters on safe sleep were revised and circulated to partner agencies.  
Leaflets are to be distributed routinely by Midwives and Health Visitors to deliver Safe 
Sleep messages.   A press release was circulated in December to promote Safe Sleep 
using photos of a high profile local celebrity.  Audit and research is being used to identify 
gaps in knowledge and further publicity initiatives are likely to ensue as a result. 

Page 41



27 
 

 
Main challenges 
 
Safeguarding Concerns 
A research project is currently being undertaken, by Health Visitors, with parents of small 
babies that asks questions about “Where did your baby sleep last night?”  The rationale for 
this is to determine whether parents are putting Safe Sleep in to practice and if not, what is 
preventing them from doing so.   A recent case review undertaken by the Sheffield 
Safeguarding Children Board (SSCB) on a very young baby that had a “near miss” sudden 
infant death, evidenced that the parents had been given advice and information on safe 
sleep, but at the time of the incident, the baby was found lying on his front.  The outcome 
of the research may indicate that more work needs to be completed to address issues 
where parents and carers do not adopt safe sleep practice. 
 
Working with parents and carers 
The work stream for SID aims to ensure that the safe sleep messages are received by 
parents and carers by raising awareness amongst workers who see babies and families in 
their own homes.   
In addition to the work highlighted above, the Young People’s Scrutiny Panel met in 
February, as part of the on-going drive to involve young people in the work of SSCB.  They 
suggested that the e-learning safe sleep course should be available for parents.  In view of 
this, consideration is being given to whether it is possible to produce something for parents 
and carers. 
 
Impact and outcomes of the work undertaken 
From the 1st April 2012 until the 31st March, there were two sudden infant deaths recorded 
in Sheffield.  This is less than in previous years, but rates do fluctuate over time.  The hope 
is that workers and parents are becoming more aware of the importance of adopting safe 
sleep practice and that the overall rate of SID is decreasing in Sheffield.  Due to the small 
numbers, SIDs rates are monitored as a 5 year rolling rate.  There appears to be a 
downward trend, but it will take a few years to determine whether this represents a true 
reduction in the number of SIDs in Sheffield. 
 
Plans for 2013 to 2014 
 
The work stream on Sudden Infant Death for the Sheffield Infant Mortality Strategy has 
developed a delivery plan for 2013 to 2015, so this will form the basis for the work in the 
forthcoming year.  This includes; 
 

• Repeating an audit of professionals to identify resources used and knowledge of 
SID.  A report will be circulated and training needs will be identified and action taken 
to address these 

• Considering development of a training package for parents and carers. 

• Ensuring that promotion of Safe Sleep and the Care of Next Infant (CONI scheme 
that supports parents who have had a previous SID) are included in service 
specifications for Health Visiting and Care Pathways for Midwives 

• Continuing to promote Safe Sleep messages to the general public and the work 
force 

• Reviewing barriers to Safe Sleep on an on-going basis 

• Developing and implementing a system to identify babies at higher risk of SID and 
devise an intervention package for these families to reduce risk 

Page 42



28 
 

 

SECTION TWO – THE CHILD’S JOURNEY 
 

Demographic Information 
 
There are 113 200 children and young people aged 0-18 living in Sheffield3. 
 
The city’s population is becoming increasingly diverse; the most recently available data for 
school age children shows that 29.6% of children and young people are from BME 
backgrounds; this figure is increasing year on year (it was 26.9% in 2011 and 28.4% in 
2012.) 
 
1 in 4 Sheffield children live in poverty, with great disparity across the city.  For example, 
just 3.4% of children and young people in the Fulwood Ward live in poverty, compared to 
45.0% in the Manor Castle Ward. 
 
22.1% of Sheffield children have special educational needs; although this figure has been 
falling since 2010 - when it was 26.1% - it remains higher than the national figure of 
18.7%. 
 
25% of adults who accessed drug treatment during the year reported having at least one 
child living with them.  
 
In 2012/13, 109 young people in the city accessed treatment for drug or alcohol misuse. 
 
Every year a number of primary, secondary and special schools across Sheffield take part 
in the Every Child Matters consultation run by Sheffield City Council. The consultation has 
been taking place since 2006, and seeks to find out the issues affecting children and 
young people living in the city. Key findings from this year include4 ; 
 

• In Year 2 (Yr2), 83% of children who took part said they always feel safe at school, 
but by Year 10 (Y10) this figure drops to 55%. The most common reasons given for 
not feeling safe at school were bullying and teasing. 

• In Y10, less than 45% of young people said they were happy with the way they look 
‘most of the time’. 

• Over a third of Year 5 (Y5) pupils reported that they help to care for a parent or 
someone else in their family.  The main caring tasks carried out by young people 
were housework, listening and providing company. 

• Over 20% of pupils in Y10 said they had given out personal information on line to 
someone they had not met. 

 
  

                                            
3
 Source: Department for Education, Statistical First Release Characteristics of Children in Need in England 2011/12 

(31 October 2012) 
4
 For more information on the ECM Survey go to: https://www.sheffield.gov.uk/education/about-us/plans-

partnerships/every-child-matters-survey.html 

 

Page 43



29 
 

Safeguarding Activity 
Early Intervention and Prevention 
 
Research evidence is clear that preventative services which work with children and 
families as soon as problems emerge can do far more to reduce abuse and neglect than 
reactive services. Early help and early intervention cover interventions which occur early in 
the life of a child and those which are provided early after the emergence of a problem. 
 
In Sheffield, Multi Agency Support Teams (MAST) provide early intervention and 
prevention services to families across the city. There are 3 MAST area teams (East, North 
& West) that work with the whole family to provide information and support on a range of 
issues including parenting skills, being healthy and happy and help with learning, 
behaviour and attending school.   
 
During 2012-13, MAST teams in Sheffield received 10520 requests for a service, an 
increase of 15% on the number received during 2011-12 (an average of 877 requests per 
month). Of the requests, 8381 (80%) resulted in support being provided to vulnerable 
children and families.  
 
A total of 3021 CAFs (Common Assessments) were received by the MAST teams during 
2012-13.  CAFs are completed with families who are vulnerable or have complex needs 
and need additional support.  
  
Requests for Service by MAST Area  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MAST Requests for Service by Age of Child 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Area Number Percentage 

East  3249 31% 

North 4233 40% 

West 3038 29% 

 

Page 44



30 
 

Reason for Referral to MAST 
 
When a referral is received the reason for this is recorded (these are called presenting 
issues, up to 2 are recorded). These are shown below: 
 

 
 
 
Free Early Learning 
 
Nationally, children aged between 3-4 years are eligible for 15 hours of free early learning 
(FEL). The aim of FEL is to give young children the best possible start in life by helping 
them develop reading and writing skills, encouraging play and exploration and providing 
other positive activities.  
 
In 2007, Sheffield became one of the first authorities to trial the provision of FEL for 2 
years from disadvantaged families.  During 2012/13, 901 children benefitted from a FEL 
place; almost a third of these children also accessed additional support services. 
 

 
 
From April 2013, the criteria for accessing the 2 year FEL has been widened meaning that 
any children who would be eligible for free school meals will be entitled to 15 hours of 
learning. The additional funding provided will enable another 1400 children to access 
learning and thereby improve their speech and communication skills. 

Page 45



31 
 

Children’s Social Care – Children In Need 
 
Where concerns about a child or young person are more serious, a referral should be 
made to Children’s Social Care. When a referral is received, the local authority has 24 
hours to decide whether or not to accept the referral. Once a referral is accepted, a social 
worker will start an assessment to gather information on the child and their circumstances. 
The outcome of this assessment will inform the plan which is put in place to support the 
child or young person. 
 
Referrals to Children’s Social Care  
 
In 2012-13, children’s social care received 7180 referrals, an increase of 8% from the 
previous year. 
 

 
 

Referrals Leading to Initial Assessment  
 
91% of referrals received during the year led to an initial assessment. Sheffield has a 
much higher proportion of referrals leading to initial assessment than similar (comparator) 
authorities.  
 
Social workers completed 6511 Initial Assessments during the year. The high conversion 
rate between the number of referrals received and the number of initial assessments 
undertaken suggests that professionals across the city have a good understanding of 
thresholds for interventions, and are referring appropriate cases to children’s social care. 
 

+#

(++#

%++#

"++#

)++#

(++&G*+# (+*+G**# (+**G*(# (+*(G*$#

B#3#22%")*-'*C56"42#(D)*7'.6%"*C%2#*;#2*?>>>>*,(4#2*?E*

;';,"%&'(*

<57=7>?# <28E9EF8>#:71M5D-/A9# ]0M>80?#

Page 46



32 
 

 
 
Initial Assessments in Timescale  
 
Working Together to Safeguard Children (2010) required initial assessments to be 
completed within a maximum of 10 working days from the date of referral.  This timescale 
attracted widespread criticism and was removed when the revised Working Together was 
published in April 2013.   During 2012-13, 64% of Initial Assessments were completed 
within 10 working days. 
 
Core Assessments  
 
During 2012-13, Children’s Social Care completed 2190 core assessments, up 21% on the 
number completed during the previous year. 
 

 
  

+#

(+#

%+#

"+#

)+#

*++#

(++&T*+# (+*+T**# (+**T*(# (+*(T*$#

F#2.#(-%$#*'3*B#3#22%")*"#%46($*-'*%(*6(6&%"*

%))#))/#(-*

<57=7>?# <28E9EF8>#:71M5D-/A9# ]0M>80?#

+#

'+#

*++#

*'+#

(++#

('+#

(++&T*+# (+*+T**# (+**T*(# (+*(T*$#

C'2#*!))#))/#(-)*C'/;"#-#4**@*;#2*?>>>>*,(4#2*?E*

;';,"%&'(*

<57=7>?# <28E9EF8>#:71M5D-/A9# ]0M>80?#

Page 47



33 
 

  
SSCB/Children’s Social Care Child In Need/Child Protection (CIN/CP) Threshold 
Audit 2012 
 
This audit was jointly commissioned by Sheffield Safeguarding Children Board and 
Sheffield Children’s Social Care. It was undertaken as a ‘follow on’ audit after a similar 
piece of work was completed in 2010/11. The audit focused on a sample of 36 children 
where a referral had been received by Children’s Social Care between January 12 – 
June 12 and a strategy discussion/meeting had been held. Although cases were 
randomly selected consideration was given to ensure balance based on demographic 
area, gender, ethnicity and age. 
 
The aim of the audit was to see if cases were being referred onto Child Protection at the 
correct time (ie. not too early/too late). The main findings were:  
 

• The audit evidenced that the CIN/CP threshold is being used appropriately.    

• There was a significant improvement in the quality and consistency of recording 
(in comparison with the previous audit). 

• There was an improvement in the overall quality of assessments with 88% of all 
assessments being seen as satisfactory or above. 

• There was better evidence of appropriate and clearer decision making. 

• There was greater evidence of good management oversight in cases. 

• There was evidence of more CIN plans on the system than in the 2010/11 audit. 

• Excellent assessments were those that provided clear evidence of the ‘child’s 
voice’.   
 

Further work is now being undertaken on the following areas:  
 

a) S47 processes – there were a number of cases where an Initial assessment 
was used to complete a S47 investigation. Although this did not always lead 
to an unsatisfactory assessment it is not compliant with Working Together 
2010.  

b) There was a lack of consistent use of the S47 outcome forms. 
c) Auditors felt that there needed to be an increase in the feedback provided to 

key professionals throughout the process. 
d) Further work is required to ensure consistent, relevant and child focussed 

CIN plans that are regularly reviewed and updated. 

Page 48



34 
 

Children Subject to Child Protection Plans 
 
Where an enquiry made by Children’s Social Care (under s.47 Children Act 1989) 
indicates that a child is suffering or likely to suffer significant harm, then a Child Protection 
(CP) conference should be arranged. At the initial CP conference, if professionals agree 
that the child is at continuing risk of significant harm, then they will be made the subject of 
a CP plan. The plan will set out the steps which need to be taken to ensure the child 
remains safe. A conference is arranged after 3 months, were the CP plan is reviewed, and 
then further conferences continue at 6 monthly intervals as needed.  
 
Number of Children & Young People subject to a Child Protection Plan at 31 March 
2013 
 
The total number of children subject to a child protection plan at 31st March 2013 was 439. 
This represents an increase of 49.8% since 31 March 2012 when the number was 293. 
 

 
 
The number of children subject to a child protection plan, measured as a rate per 10,000 
of the population under 18, gives a rate for Sheffield of 38.8 (439 children subject to a CPP 
and an estimated population of 113,200). The Sheffield rate is higher than the rate for 
England (37.8) but lower than the average rate for both our statistical neighbours (51.4) 
and the core cities (52.5)5.  
 
In England there were 42,900 children who were subject to a child protection plan at 31 
March 2012, compared with 42,330 at the same point in 2011. This represents an increase 
of 1.3% over 12 months. The number of plans being made nationally has slowed 
considerably since 2010/11, when there was an 18.6% increase on the previous 12 
months.  

                                            
5
 NB All comparative figures are taken from Department for Education, Statistical First Release 
Characteristics of Children in Need in England 2011/12 (Published 31 October 2012) Data for some local 
authorities was missing and therefore excluded from any analysis. 

 

+#

'+#

*++#

*'+#

(++#

('+#

$++#

$'+#

%++#

%'+#

'++#

(+*+# (+**# (+*(# (+*$#

0,/1#2*'3*C56"42#(*6(*75#8#"4*7,1G#.-*-'*C56"4*F2'-#.&'(*F"%()*%-*A?*H%2.5*

Page 49



35 
 

Category of Abuse: Reasons for CP Plans during Year 
 

 
 

 

For the second year running, emotional abuse was the most common reason for plans 
being made (n = 231, 46.8% of all plans made.) Neglect accounted for 40.7% of all plans 
made (n=201), physical injury 10.1% (n=50) and sexual abuse 2.4% (n=12). 
 
When considering the total number of children subject to CP plans as at 31 March 2013, 
as opposed to plans made over the year, the proportions were: emotional abuse 50.6%, 
neglect 38.5%, physical injury 9.1% and sexual abuse 1.8%. 
 
Nationally during 2011/12, neglect was the most common reason for children requiring CP 
plans, with 42% of all plans being made in this category. 28% of plans nationally are as a 
result of emotional abuse, 12% due to physical abuse and 5% concern sexual abuse.  A 
further 12% of children subject to plans nationally cite multiple reasons.  In Sheffield we do 
not use multiple categories; this may account for some of the difference between the 
proportion of plans made locally for emotional abuse and the proportion nationally. 
 
Children Subject to a Child Protection Plan who are also Looked After 
 
At 31 March 2013, 4 looked after children were subject to child protection plans; this is less 
than 1% of all children subject to CP plans. The number at 31 March 2012 was 17 (5.8%).  
 
SSCB Safeguarding and Child Protection Procedures contain clear guidance on managing 
cases where children subject to CP plans become looked after. There must be a clear 
justification for a child who is looked after to also be subject to a CP plan and this decision 
must be taken jointly by the conference chair and the child’s Independent Reviewing 
Officer. 
 
Children who became the subject of a Child Protection Plan during the Year 
 
In Sheffield 494 children became the subject to a Child Protection Plan during 2012-13 
(compared with 311 in 2011-12) – this is an increase of 58.9 % on the previous year. 

This gives Sheffield a rate per 10000 of 43.6 (previously 27.5) which is lower than the rate 
for all England authorities (45.9), core cities (65.7) and statistical neighbours (65.3). 
 

+#

'+#

*++#

*'+#

(++#

('+#

(++&G*+# (+*+G**# (+**G*(# (+*(G*$#

0,/1#2*'3*C%)#)*4,26($*I#%2J*1I*.%-#$'2I*'3*%1,)#*

07M>7F2# P539#10^# 97N#8D/97# 7.-E-08>#

Page 50



36 
 

Locally the gender split was 238 boys (48.2%), 217 girls (43.9%) and 39 unborn babies 
(7.9%). 
  
There was a fairly even distribution between age groups:  

• babies under a year accounted for 17%  

• 1-4yrs:  31.6% 

• 5-9yrs: 30.2% 

• 10-15yrs: 19.8%  

• Young people over 16yrs who were made subject of a CP Plan represented 1.4% of 
the total. 

 
SSSB and Sheffield Adult Safeguarding Partnership (SASP) have developed best practice 
guidance to ensure that staff in all agencies are aware of their responsibilities to safeguard 
young people transferring from children’s to adult’s services. The guidance requires all 
agencies to have robust protocols in place to enable safe and effective transition from 
young people focused to adult oriented services. In addition, agencies must demonstrate 
that key staff understand their responsibilities under the Mental Capacity Act 2005 and 
Deprivation of Liberty Standards, so that young people are assessed and properly 
safeguarded during periods of transition. 
 
Children Becoming the Subject of a Child Protection Plan for a Second or 
Subsequent Time 

 

 
 
During 2012-13, 40 children were made subject to a Child Protection Plan for a second or 
subsequent time.  
 
That represents 8.10% of all Child Protection plans made during the year. During 2011-12, 
14 (4.5% of the total) children were made the subject of a second or subsequent plan.  
 

+_++`#

(_++`#

%_++`#

"_++`#

)_++`#

*+_++`#

*(_++`#

+#

'#

*+#

*'#

(+#

('#

$+#

$'#

%+#

%'#

(++&G*+# (+*+G**# (+**G*(# (+*(G*$#

0,/1#2*%(4*F#2.#(-%$#*'3*C%)#)*<,26($*K#%2*

:/.D7A# `#

Page 51



37 
 

The proportion of children becoming subject to second or subsequent Child Protection 
Plans in Sheffield is lower than the national average for all authorities (13.8%), statistical 
neighbours (13.9%) and Core City comparators (16.3%). 
 
NB Second/Subsequent Child Protection Plans + Length of Time a Plan is in place are 
separate but inter-related indicators in the national performance set - they have to be 
considered together as one can influence the other.  A low rate for the making of 
Second/Subsequent Plans might be achieved by keeping a higher proportion of children 
subject to their original Plan for longer, or vice versa.   
 
Discontinuation of Child Protection Plans 
 
During 2012-13, 345 Sheffield children had their Child Protection Plans discontinued. This 
is a 10.8% decrease on 2011-12 when 387 children had their Child Protection plans 
discontinued, represents a rate per 10000 of 30.5.   
The national average for England = 45.5; the average for statistical neighbours = 64.1; and 
core cities = 70.0. 
 
Child Protection Plans Lasting More Than 2 Years  
 

 
 
During 2012-13, 30 children (8.7% of all discontinued plans) had a Child Protection Plan 
discontinued that had been in place for more than 2 years. This figure is lower than the 
number in the previous year (37, 9.6%).  
 
The national average for all authorities is 5.58%, our statistical neighbours 4.44% and core 
city comparators 5.29%. Core city comparators range from 2.8%–7.7%) While Sheffield 
had a higher percentage of plans lasting 2 years or more than any of the core city 
comparators, the percentage of children being placed on second or subsequent Child 
Protection plans locally was lower than any of the core cities.   
 
To help avoid drift in a case, a new process has been introduced whereby at the 12 month 
point Child Protection Co-ordinators based within the Safeguarding Children Service, 
review progress being made towards implementing the Child Protection plan.   This review 
will ensure there is rigorous challenge and that alternatives are considered if parents have 
not demonstrated a willingness to change within a year. 

+_++`#

(_++`#

%_++`#

"_++`#

)_++`#

*+_++`#

*(_++`#

+#

'#

*+#

*'#

(+#

('#

$+#

$'#

%+#

(++&G*+# (+*+G**# (+**G*(# (+*(G*$#

<6).'(&(,%&'(*'3*CF*;"%()*-5%-*5%4**1##(*6(*#:6)-#(.#*3'2*

/'2#*-5%(*=*I#%2)*

:/.D7A# `#

Page 52



38 
 

 
There can be an issue if it appears children’s Child Protection Plans are being 
discontinued too quickly.  If that was happening, it would tend to show in an increased 
frequency of Second/Subsequent Plans needing to be made. Equally, the need for 
Second/Subsequent Plans can be reduced if children remain the subject of a Plan for 
longer – the two indicators are inter-dependent. However, in Sheffield there remains a 
reasonable balance between these measures. 
 
Child Protection Plans Discontinued in Under 6 months 
 
During 2012-13, of those children who had Child Protection plans discontinued, 25% 
(n=87) had been in existence for less than 6 months.   
 
40.3% of plans ended between 6m to one year.  25.8% ended 1-2 years from their start 
and 8% had been in place for longer than 2 years. Most children locally remain the subject 
of a plan for more than 6m, but action to make sure they are safe enables those Plans to 
cease usually within 2 years. 
 
Child Protection Reviews in Timescale 
 
During 2012/2013, 98.9% of Review Child Protection Conferences were held within 
timescales set out in Working Together to Safeguard Children. 
 
In England, 96.7% of all Review Child Protection Conferences were held within timescale; 
for core city comparators the figure was 91.2% and for statistical neighbours it was 94.2%. 
 
Ethnicity Information 
 
Over recent years, the possible over and under representation of different ethnic groups 
within the population of children subject to Child Protection Plans has been a recurring 
source of concern. 
 
Ethnicity of Children Subject to CP plans at 31 March 

 
Since 2003/04, the percentage of children subject to Child Protection Plans who are White 
British has fallen from 81.7% to 62.6%. 
 
Over the last twelve months the percentage of children who are of mixed ethnic origin and 
subject Child Protection Plans has increased, and are over represented among children 
subject to Child Protection plans. 

 2003/04 2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 

% of children subject to a child protection plan who are White British 

81.7 81.2 82.8 79.9 79 74.8 71.4 71.8 64.2 62.6 

% of children subject to a child protection plan who are of Mixed ethnic origin 

7.3 10.7 9.8 11.7 15 17.4 15.3 10.7 12.6 16.2 

% of children subject to a child protection plan who are Asian or Asian British 

6.3 4.0 4.0 5.5 1.5 2.6 5.9 5.1 9.2 7.9 

% of children subject to a child protection plan who are Black or Black British 

4.7 4 2.9 1.7 3.1 3.4 4.6 3.8 6.5 3.9 

% of children subject to a child protection plan who are of Other ethnic origin 

0.0 0.0 0.0 1.5 1.4 0.9 1.5 8.0 4.8 7.9 

Page 53



39 
 

  
Disproportionality: Analysis has been carried out comparing the ethnicity of children 
subject to Child Protection Plans with the ethnicity of young people aged 0-17 from the 
2011 census. We compared differences with the percentage of children from different 
ethnic backgrounds across the city with the percentage of children from the same group 
who were subject to Child Protection Plans. This technique looks at disproportionality 
which is whether children from different ethnic groups are subject to Child Protection Plans 
in proportion to their presence in the local area. 
 
A disproportionality index of 1 would mean the ethnic group was represented on Child 
Protection Plans at the same rate as they are represented in the population. 

 
Ethnic Group Disproportionality Index – Sheffield 

White British 0.89 

White and Black Caribbean 2.51 

White and Black African 1.53 

White and Asian 3.37 

Other Mixed Background 2.37 

Pakistani 0.40 

Bangladeshi 2.88 

Chinese 1.12 

Other Asian 1.35 

Black African 0.68 

Caribbean 1.39 

Other Black 0.40 

 
Parental Involvement: Attendance at Initial and Review Conferences 
 
During 2012-13, parents / carers attended 93% of initial child protection conference, and 
85% of review child protection conferences.  
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
   
  

!""#$%#%

&'(

)*%+$,"+-""#$%

.(

!"#$%&"'()&&$%*"%+$("&(,%-&-"'(.!(./%0$#$%+$

!""#$%#%

&'(

)*%+$,"+-""#$%

.'(

!"#$%&"'()&&$%*"%+$("&(,$-.$/(0!(01%2$#$%+$

Page 54



40 
 

Involvement of Parent/Carers & Children in Child Protection 
Conferences 
 
During 2012-13 Sheffield Safeguarding Children Board undertook two evaluations that 
looked at both parental and children’s involvement in the child protection processes.  
 

1. Parent/ Carer Feedback from Child Protection Conferences 
Direct feedback from parents and carers is an important part of service development and 
quality assurance. Two previous parent evaluations have been completed (January 2010 
and 2009) and can be found on the research and evaluation pages of the website. There 
have been specific changes in response to the results of these including; changing 
professional leaflets and report proformas to highlight the importance of sharing reports 
with parents prior to conference and giving parents more information about what to expect 
at the conference.  
 
Between Monday 2nd – Tuesday 31st July 2012 parents/carers attending all Child 
Protection Conferences were asked if they would complete a short feedback 
questionnaire. 
 
Results 
 
Forty seven questionnaires were completed and these were from parents and/or other 
relatives at 40 conferences.  Below is a list of questions asked and the parents’ response 
as well as comparisons with the results from previous parent feedback questionnaires. 
 
Involvement of professionals and parent experience 
 

• Do you feel professionals who work with you and your children listen to and consider your 
views? 
o 85% of parents felt professionals who work with them ‘completely’ or ‘mostly’ listen to and 

consider their views (39% ‘completely’ & 46% ‘mostly’). 
 

• Do you understand why the social worker became involved with your child(ren)? 
o 96% of parents reported that they understood. 

  
It is the first year that these questions have been used. It is encouraging that the majority 
of parents understood why the social worker became involved with their children. In 
addition to this a large majority of parents felt that professionals listened to and consider 
their views.  
 
Conference reports and understanding the reason for a conference 
 

• Do you understand why this meeting has been arranged? 
o 96% reported that they understood. 

 

• Did you see a copy of the report from the social worker before today’s meeting? 
o At 67.5% of conferences at least 1 parent had seen a copy of the social workers report before 

the meeting. Of these 41% saw it 2 days (or more) before the conference and 55% saw it 1 day 
before. The social worker went through the report, with at least one parent in 74% of cases. 

 
The SSCB Child Protection and Safeguarding Procedures state that the social worker 
should provide the report to parents at least 2 working days in advance of the conference. 
It is positive that at 67.5% of conferences at least one parent had seen a copy of this 

Page 55



41 
 

report prior to the meeting. This question was asked in 2010 and at that time 44% of 
parents had seen a copy of the social worker report prior to the conference.  
 

• Did the social work report include your views? 
o 55% of parents felt the social work report included their views, 13% were unsure. 

 

• Did the report include your child’s views? 
o 69% of parents felt the report included their child’s views (of those that felt their child was old 

enough to express this). 
 

• Did other professionals go through their report with you before today’s meeting? 
o 52% reported that all or some of the other professionals involved with their family went through 

their reports with them prior to the meeting. 

 
The parents experience of the conference 
 

• In the meeting, do you feel that you were given the chance to get your point of view across? 
o 89% felt that they were ‘completely’ or ‘mostly’ given the chance to get their point of view across 

in the conference. (72% completely, 17% mostly). 

 
This question has been asked in all the parent feedback questionnaires (2012, 2010 & 
2009). The proportion of parents who feel that they are ‘completely’ able to get their point 
of view across has increased over time, from 61% in 2009 – 72% in 2012. 
 

• Did you feel that your views were listened to during the meeting? 
o 93% felt their views were ‘completely’ or ‘mostly’ listened to during the meeting (67% 

‘completely’, 26% ‘mostly’). 
 

• Did you understand what was happening in the meeting? 
o 77% reported that they understood all of what was happening in the meeting and 19% 

understood some of it. 
 

• Does your child have a child protection plan? 
o 80% of parents reported that their child was subject to a child protection plan (CPP) at the end of 

the conference, 2% were unsure. Of these, 84% reported that they understood what needs to 
happen in order for their child to no longer need the plan, 5% were unsure and 11% did not 
know. 

 
The proportion of parents (of children who were subject to a Child Protection Plan at the 
end of the conference) who understood what needed to happen in order for their child(ren) 
to no longer need a plan, has increased since 2010 (73% in 2010, 84% in 2012). 
 
Conclusions 
 
The feedback demonstrated many positive areas as the majority of parents understood 
why the social worker became involved with their children and the reason the conference 
were called. Parents felt that their views were listened to and considered by the 
professionals that work with them.  
 
The results from this questionnaire were compared with results from previous years and 
this also demonstrated some improvements. For example, two thirds of parents had seen 
a copy of the social work report prior to conference (up 23% since 2010) which is very 
positive, although, there is still work to do to meet the requirements of the SSCB 
procedures (this states that the social worker should provide the report ‘to parents and 
older children !! at least 2 working days in advance of the initial child protection 
conference’).  

Page 56



42 
 

 
Of the parents whose child(ren) had a child protection plan in place at the end of the 
meeting, there was an increase, in comparison with 2010, in the proportion that 
understood what needed to happen in order for their child(ren) to no longer need a plan. 
However, there were still 16% of parents that were not clear of what action was required 
and professionals need to be aware of this. 
 
 
2. Children’s Wishes and Feelings within Child Protection Conferences 
 
Recent research (Cossar, Brandon & Jordan, 2011) with children who had a Child 
Protection Plan concluded that ‘Professionals need to think carefully about what it is like 
for the young person to be at the (child protection) meeting, the likely emotional impact 
and how the young person’s involvement is best managed to make it a positive 
experience.’ In Sheffield, Children’s Wishes and Feelings (CW&F) forms were introduced 
in 2011. They are to be completed by the social worker, with the child prior to their Child 
Protection Conference and submitted alongside the social work report. The aim of this 
piece of work was to:  

• Investigate whether children/young people’s voice is being heard within the child 
protection conferences. 

• Assess whether the CW&F forms have strengthened the children’s voice. 

• Identify ways to strengthen the voice of the child/ young people within the 
conference in the future. 

 
Method 
 
A comparison was undertaken of those conferences where CW&F forms were brought to 
conference with those that hadn’t, using July 2012 as focus. A ‘matched pair’ technique 
was used,  where each child (aged 3 – 17 years) with a CW&F form or who attended the 
conference (Group 1) was matched for age and reason subject to a plan with another child 
that had not completed a CW&F form  (Group 2) who had also been the subject of a 
conference in the same month.  
 
Result 
 
Summary of the group’s experiences; 
 
Group 1(CW&F forms or had attended a conference) 

• 92% had CW&F forms and/or wishes and feelings within the social work report 
submitted to the conference. Some CW&F demonstrated the child had a level of 
understanding of the role of the social worker and insight into their situation.  

• 85% conferences discussed the child/young person’s wishes and feelings. 
 
Group 2 (No CW&F forms or attendance at conference) 

• 31% of the social work reports contained the child/young person’s wishes and 
feelings. 

• 15% of the conferences discussed the child/young person’s wishes and feelings,  

• For 85% of children there were no wishes and feelings discussed. 
 
 
 

Page 57



43 
 

Discussion 
 
The analysis undertaken demonstrated that 61.5% of children had written wishes and 
feelings provided to the conference (either through a CW&F form or social work report). 
 

Those within Group 1 (CW&F forms/young people attended) were much more likely to 
have their wishes and feelings submitted to the conference (92%) in comparison to those 
in group 2 (31%, no CW&F form). It appears that the majority of social worker’s that 
discussed wishes and feelings with the child or young person choose to use the CW&F 
forms, sometimes in conjunction with further discussion (summarised in the social work 
report). Although the sample size in this analysis was small, it has been able to evidence 
that even very young children can demonstrate some insight into their situation and offer 
relevant views. It is therefore important that social workers understand that using 
resources can help children express views relevant to the conference, even if these views 
are not a direct comment on the child protection plan or conference itself. 
  

Core group questionnaire   
 
A Core group is meeting involving the professionals and parent/carers of a child who is 
subject to a CP plan. They meet regularly in between child protection conferences to 
work with the family on the child’s CP plan. 
 
To gain a more in-depth understanding of core groups, the SSCB agreed to undertake 
a small scale audit looking at attendance, quality and outcomes. During a two week 
period in September 2012 and again in January 2013 each attendee (including both 
professionals and family members) coming to a Review Child Protection Conference 
was asked to complete a short questionnaire regarding their experiences of core group 
meetings. In total this related to 48 conferences with 227 responses received.
 
The main findings were that  

• 98% of family members stated they had attended a core group meeting with 85% 
saying they had attended all core group meetings since the last review child 
protection conference.  

• 90% of professionals had attended a core group meeting with 60% attending all 
core groups since the last conference (some of the difference in this figure 
related to workers who had only recently been allocated the case).73% of all 
those reported that core group meetings had taken place on a monthly basis.   

• 57% reported that the core group meeting focussed on the child protection plan 
but only 34% stated that changes were made to the plan to reflect those 
discussions.  

• Professionals stated that they found the meetings useful but a criticism was that 
minutes were either not received (51% of respondents stated they had received 
minutes following the core group meeting) or there was a lengthy delay.  

 
The SSCB recommended that social workers be provided with the tools and resources 
to enable them to effectively chair core group meetings. 
 

Page 58



44 
 

Looked After Children 
 
On 31 March 2013, 577 children from Sheffield were looked after by the Local Authority; 
this is a reduction of 5% on the same time in 2012. 
 
Demographic information 
 

Age Boys Girls  Ethnicity   

Under 1 30 6% 16 3%  White 434 81% 

1-4 years 54 10% 42 8%  Mixed 46 8% 

5-9 years 55 10% 29 5%  Asian or Asian British 17 3% 

10-15 years 111 21% 88 16%  Black or Black British 22 4% 

16-17 years 67 12% 45 8%  Other Ethnic Groups 18 3% 

TOTAL 317 59% 220 41%  TOTAL 537 99% 

 
The ethnicity of looked after children is quite different to that of children subject to Child 
Protection Plans, with a higher proportion of looked after children being from White British 
families and a lower proportion of children from mixed ethnicity. 
 

Placement Type Number % 

Foster Placement with Relative or Friend (inside Local Authority) 8 1.5 

Foster Placement with Relative or Friend (outside local authority) 5 1 

Placement with other foster carer (inside local authority) 242 45 

Placement with other foster carer (outside local authority) 127 24 

Secure Unit 3 0.5 

Homes and hostels 59 11 

Hostels and other supportive residential placements 4 0.7 

Residential Schools 11 2 

Other Residential Settings 7 1.3 

Placed for Adoption 38 7 

Placed with own parents 18 3 

In lodgings, residential employment or living independently 15 2.7 

 
Placement Stability   
 

 
  

+#

'#

*+#

*'#

(+*+# (+**# (+*(# (+*$#

F#2.#(-%$#*'3*.56"42#(*"''L#4*%M#2*%-*A?*H%2.5*96-5*A*'2*/'2#*

;"%.#/#(-)*4,26($*-5#*I#%2*

<57=7>?# <28E9EF8>#:71M5D-/A9# ]0M>80?#

Page 59



45 
 

Care Leavers 
    

 
 

 
 
Adoption  
 
Locally, during 2012-13, 74% of looked after children were placed for adoption within 12 
months of the decision that they should be placed for adoption.  
 

Year 
Percentage Children placed for 
adoption within 12 months of 

decision being made 

2012 / 2013 74.0% 

2011 / 2012 58.7% 

2010 / 2011 66.7% 

2009 / 2010 61.9% 

 
Over the last 3 years (2009 – 2013) an average of 17% of looked after children locally 
have been adopted. Nationally this figure is 12%. 

+#

*+#

(+#

$+#

%+#

'+#

"+#

!+#

)+#

&+#

(+*+# (+**# (+*(# (+*$#

F#2.#(-%$#*'3*.%2#*"#%N#2)*6(*#/;"'I/#(-J*#4,.%&'(*%(4*-2%6(6($*

<57=7>?# <28E9EF8>#:71M5D-/A9# ]0M>80?#

)(#

)%#

)"#

))#

&+#

&(#

&%#

&"#

&)#

(+*+# (+**# (+*(# (+*$#

F#2.#(-%$#*'3*.%2#*"#%N#2)*6(*),6-%1"#*%..'//'4%&'(*

<57=7>?# <28E9EF8>#:71M5D-/A9# ]0M>80?#

Page 60



46 
 

SECTION THREE – ACHIEVEMENTS AND PROGRESS IN OUR 

PRIORITY AREAS 
 
Private Fostering 
 
Under the Children Act 2004, Private Fostering is defined as a child under 16 (or under 18 
if they are disabled) who is looked after for at least 28 consecutive days, by someone 
other than a close relative. Under the Act there is a legal requirement for the Local 
Authority to satisfy themselves that such a child is being safeguarded and their welfare 
promoted. This is undertaken by offering support and guidance, undertaking assessments 
and checks, and regular visits to the child and their carer. 
  
Private notifications in Sheffield 
 
The number of new notifications has dropped from 2010-11 and as of 31st March 2013 
there were 17 private fostering arrangements being monitored (NB: this figure is 
continually changing as private fostering arrangements are often transitory) however this 
figure represents a small increase on last year’s figures. 
 
As reported in 2011-12 the Local Authority embarked on a substantial  campaign of raising 
awareness of Private Fostering throughout the city using posters and advertising in a 
variety of placements (including on local transport, local news-letters/papers etc.) This was 
in addition to sending out leaflets and posters to every council office, GP and dentist in the 
city. However despite this “advertising” campaign the increase in referrals has been 
relatively minor.  The Local Authority will continue to undertake the provision of leaflets 
and posters in offices and other relevant establishments and will continue to raise 
awareness with practitioners. 
 
The majority of referrals being made come from professionals working within Children 
Young People and Families, however there have been three referrals directly from families 
(two who are hosting children from abroad). 
 
        
 

 
 

       
 
Protocols 
 
The most frequent way a referral is taken is through early discussions with the duty staff or 
the team manager (in Children’s Social Care) about potential Private Fostering 
arrangements. It is apparent when discussing potential Private Fostering arrangements 

0 

5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

30 

2009-2010 2010-2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 

75#8#"4*F26N%-#*O')-#26($*0'&P.%&'()*

2#.#N6#4*=>>Q@?A*

Page 61



47 
 

that understanding among professionals of what constitutes Private Fostering has resulted 
in clearer identification of arrangements at an early juncture. Inappropriate referrals are 
identified at an early stage and where it is required a suitable service is signposted to. This 
helps to explain why there are few notifications recorded that have not progressed to 
private fostering arrangements. 
  
Families Adopters and Carers Team (FACT) perspective 
 

• FACT continue to identify one worker who is mainly responsible for the initial private 
fostering assessment however the team have a general expertise in this area and 
all four social work qualified staff have responsibility for some Private Fostering 
cases. 

• The variety of Private Fostering arrangements continues and FACT have been 
involved with children who have been subject to Special Guardianship Orders 
(SGO) and have left the guardian’s home to live with another distant relative. FACT 
has liaised closely with other relevant agencies including Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health Service, Education, Multi-Agency Support Team (MAST) to ensure 
adequate services and support is provided. 

• FACT have also worked with the carers of Private Fostered children to assist them 
in applying for court orders to secure a child legally and negate the need for private 
fostering visits 

• The majority of the children being Privately Fostered are teenagers and 
consequently there has also been a development of knowledge and better links with 
the MAST service in identifying what support is available for this age group. 

• It is important to note that FACT has achieved a very high percentage, 
(approximately 95%), of the statutory requirements within specified timescales.  

 
 
Future Plans 
 

• FACT will need to continue its efforts in alerting the public, professionals and the 
voluntary sector as to their responsibilities in relation to Private Fostering 
notifications   

• Continue of information giving and presentations to official bodies. 

• Continued development of relationships with adjacent authorities to develop best 
practice and perhaps look at consistency between authorities 

• Consider developing a group or at least an event for Private Fostered children and 
their carers.  

• There needs to be a discussion regarding resources allocated to Private Fostering 
particularly given that there has been no increase in notifications. 

• The links FACT has with the MAST has been helpful in securing support and 
resources for children who are privately fostered in the local community. This 
should continue 

• FACT will monitor the advertising to establish its effectiveness 
 
FACT will continue to strive to keep all Private Fostering arrangements serviced according 
to the statutory timescales.  

Page 62



48 
 

Sexual Exploitation 
  
Achievements 
 

• Due to a climate of tight and increasingly difficult budgetary conditions, it became clear 
that the Service needed to adapt, change and refocus its energies to deliver on 
strategic and operational priorities. The development of a new Model of Delivery for the 
Sheffield Sexual Exploitation Service commenced in 2012. 

• Since October 2012 the newly configured Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) Service is 
not just co-located, but genuinely integrated, with a new Service Manager driving the 
work, setting priorities, and establishing a team identity and approach. The expansion 
of the CSE co-located team now includes an Education Worker, Social Workers and a 
Family Support Worker. New and different opportunities will be pursued to continue to 
build and broaden the skills base and capacity within the Service. 

• Securing another three years funding from Comic Relief to further develop work with 
boys and young men. 

• The Taking Stock team were asked to speak at the Community Care Conference in 
London for the second year running demonstrating the value of the Service from a 
national perspective. 

• CSE training was successfully delivered to over 200 police and professional staff by the 
team at a West Yorkshire Police training event in September 2012 with very positive 
evaluation feedback. 

• CSE training was delivered as part of the Open Doors Sexual Health annual training 
day in July 2012. 

 
Challenges 
 

• Working with Children’s Social Care to ensure cases are joint worked where there are 
specific vulnerabilities that require the input of a qualified Social Worker.  

• Working on the transition agenda to ensure the needs of young people identified as 
vulnerable adults are provided with suitable support at exit from the CSE service.  

• In early 2012 there was a waiting list for referrals to be placed on a caseload with 
Taking Stock, as the year came to an end in March 2013 historical referrals were 
reviewed and this situation was resolved. However, closer monitoring and reporting of 
capacity issues should have taken place to prevent this from happening. 

 
Evidence of Multi-agency working and participation 
 
The service works closely with professionals from a wide variety of agencies including the 
Youth Justice Service (who are already co-located in the same building as the Sexual 
Exploitation Service), and the Permanence and Through Care Service for Looked After 
Children and Care Leavers.  This will improve in 2013-14 when they also co-locate to the 
same building as the Sexual Exploitation Service. 
 
The service has implemented a new risk assessment model; ensuring young people 
receive the appropriate level of support. Young people who are deemed to be at less 
significant risk of exploitation are now supported by the Community Youth Teams, who 
have officers trained by the service to work with those at risk of sexual exploitation. This 
new model of working continues to be developed, but has already ensured that young 
people do not have to wait for a service.          
 

Page 63



49 
 

The voice of young people is very important to the way the CSE team develop the Service. 
There was a young people’s panel as part of the recruitment processes to select the 
Manager post. In 2013-14 we are planning the introduction of a ‘service user’ group as part 
of service evaluation and development. Boys and young men were involved in the 
development of posters and leaflets, funded by Comic Relief and included in a national 
campaign alongside resources (these have been distributed to all Sheffield Secondary 
Schools and Colleges and youth centres). On the 20th March High Storrs School hosted a 
South West schools event, organised by Julia Codman, focusing e-safety and CSE for 
approximately 100 parents and young people. The evening was a carousel style 
workshop, with 5 different workshops which all parents attended for 20 minutes.  
 
Evidence of impact 
 

• The good working relationship and trust developed between workers and young people 
have achieved a number of positive outcomes for young people. These are sometimes 
small steps and milestone targets but significant in the lives of these young people. 

• Young people were supported to produce a DVD, posters and leaflets. 

• A variety of outcomes have been achieved with different young people on caseloads 
such as  

> Improved attendance in education 
> Reduced number of missing episodes 
> Reduction in self harm 
> Reduction in substance misuse (drugs or alcohol) 
> Improved relationship with parents 
> Improved awareness of risk  

 
 
Priorities for 2013-14 
 

• The new Child Sexual Exploitation Service will have a re-launch as soon as the new 
Manager is established in post and will promote the new model based on 4 core 
principles which influence how the service is configured to deliver these aims and 
objectives: Prevent ; Protect; Pursue and Prosecute. 

• The Service will contribute to a city wide workforce development programme to 
ensure everyone working with children and young people can identify the warning 
signs and behaviours which may indicate sexual exploitation and the nationally 
recognised typical vulnerabilities in children and young people prior to being 
sexually exploited. 

• The Service is about to produce an updated new version of ‘Friend or Foe’ to 
include a new section for use with young people with language, literacy or mild 
disability issues. 

• The team would like to raise funds to finance a video interview room within the 
Service to provide a more effective and supportive process. 

• Successful prosecutions. 
  

Page 64



50 
 

Domestic Abuse  
 
Performance 
 
The community based domestic abuse services supported 3442 individuals during the 
year: 

Independent Domestic Violence Advocates   715 clients 
Outreach Service   321 clients 
Helpline 2406 calls and referrals 

 
In the first three quarters of 2012-13 (full year data not yet available), the adults supported 
had 3608 dependent children.   
 
Review of Domestic Abuse Structures and Services  
 
The Sheffield Domestic Abuse Partnership Co-located Team was launched in spring 2010; 
34 units of refuge accommodation are also commissioned in Sheffield from 3 providers. 
While there has been good progress made in relation to better partnership working, some 
elements of the structure were less robust than others and the lack of clarity between the 
roles of commissioners and providers in particular was raised as an issue by a number of 
partners involved in the Domestic Abuse Partnership. This concern along with new 
legislation, research and guidance, together with the serious economic difficulties facing 
commissioners and providers alike led partners to conclude that the time was right to ‘take 
stock’ of current services and arrangements, review progress to date, and ensure that the 
partnership is achieving good value for money.  
 
The Director of Substance Misuse Strategies was asked to undertake a review of the 
Domestic Abuse structure and services and a report has subsequently been produced and 
agreed by elected members. The Review contains 17 recommendations designed to 
improve both the services and governance structure. As part of this work the Sheffield 
DAAT has been given responsibility for Domestic Abuse in the city and this major and 
important area of work is currently being embedded across the DAAT which has now 
changed its name to Drug and Alcohol / Domestic Abuse Coordination Team or DACT; the 
city’s Domestic Abuse Strategy Manager and Administrator has joined the DACT.  
 
Commissioning  
 
As part of the Strategic Review a Joint Commissioning Group was established in the 
summer of 2012 involving key partners, and a supporting document was developed 
primarily in 2012-13. This is currently out for consultation and includes an analysis of need 
in relation to domestic abuse in the city based on information currently available. This will 
be signed off in the autumn and will inform future service design. This document includes 
an initial estimate of the numbers of children and young people living with adults 
experiencing domestic abuse as follows:  

 
Children Prevalence data – living in a household where the victim is the parent 
There is no specific calculation to estimate the number of children affected by domestic 
abuse in Sheffield. However efforts have been made (using the ‘ready reckoner’ and 
Modus data) to provide an estimation of the number of children living with a female victim 
of domestic abuse. 
 

Page 65



51 
 

 
 
An estimated 12,300 children (aged 0 to 17) are potentially living with a female victim of 
domestic abuse in Sheffield. 
 
Note - This figure should be used with caution, and only as an indication. 

 

The Joint Commissioning Group has also begun considering commissioned provision for 
children affected by domestic abuse in the city, funded by internal and external funding 
streams. A mapping project is under way with the aim of considering gaps and possible 
duplication with Council or other services. 

 
A post, specialising in children and young people affected by domestic abuse, to be based 
within the Multi Agency Support Teams, is currently in development. The aim is that this 
post will link with the commissioned domestic abuse services in order to ensure children 
and young people are accessing support as necessary and also, where adults (parents or 
carers) experiencing domestic abuse are identified that they are risk assessed and 
referred or signposted appropriately to specialist domestic abuse services.  
 
The Joint Commissioning Group will continue to work with the Housing Independence 
Service (HIS) to deliver a high quality refuge service for the city – the new building has 
already been designed. HIS will also progress plans to move to a situation of one provider 
of refuge services in the city.  

The Joint Commissioning Group reports to the Domestic Abuse Strategic Group. Pooled 
budgets have been established where possible and the reconfiguration of community 
based services, aligning them on the basis of risk as recommended by the Review, is 
nearly completed.  

 
As part of this process a review of unit costs has been undertaken in order to ensure 
effective use of public funds. Service Level Agreements (SLA) and contracts are being 
designed so that they are consistent with other local commissioning frameworks. Issues of 
capacity (under or over) have been considered as part of the redesign of service 
specifications following the work done in relation to initial estimates of need. 

 
Pathway development 
 
A clear pathway has been developed (to fit with the new Supported Accommodation 
Pathway when it is implemented – projected date 2014) that will be promoted to all 
agencies that may identify domestic abuse. The pathway will be aligned in accordance 
with identified risk levels of clients. Work still needs to be taken forward in relation to 
clarifying the pathway for people affected by domestic abuse with No Recourse to Public 
Funds.  

!"#$%&#'(#)*+$#"),-).+'/0)1#"2+34 56/2.%/2+' 7%6#3)+'

!"#$%&'()$%(&*+,#+)-&./0123&4($5-&"%67 /892:;&&&&&&& <($64&<(,=">(5

?5"@"5#+">&"'&,%+(>#-&+>&-A@@"5#&B+#C&$&,C+%6D&,C+%65(> 2:E F"6A-&GH&6$#$

IA)J(5&"'&*+,#+)-&B+#C&$&,C+%6 09/K:&&&&&&&&& L$-(6&">&2:E&"'&#C"-(&+>&-A@@"5#&C$6&$&,C+%6&

M*(5$N(&>A)J(5&"'&,C+%65(>&@(5&*+,#+) H

F"6A-&GH&6$#$&+>6+,$#+>N&#C$#&*+,#+)-&B+#C&,C+%65(>&

C$*(&">&$*(5$N(&#B"&,C+%65(>

!"#$%&>A)J(5&"'&,C+%65(>&B+#C&$&@$5(>#&-A''(5+>N&

6")(-#+,&$JA-( /H9HO0&

Page 66



52 
 

 
The Domestic Abuse Strategy Manager has participated in the development of the Family 
CAF by submitting suggestions for the guidance document and requesting that explicit 
links are made, both in the guidance and the form itself, to the ACPO DASH risk 
assessment tool so that people experiencing domestic abuse are identified (whether these 
are young people experiencing domestic abuse in their own relationships or 
parents/carers) that their risk level is determined and they are referred on appropriately 
e.g. to MARAC (Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference) if necessary .  

 
Governance  
 
As well as the new Joint Commissioning Group, a new Provider Consultation Group has 
been established in order to keep the Joint Commissioning Group and Strategic Board up 
to date with developments in the sector and among the client group; a Service User 
Reference Group will also be established in order to ensure customer focus.  

 
The Domestic Abuse Strategic Board was established in February 2013. Its key area of 
work is overseeing the implementation of the DA Review recommendations. Two sub 
groups of the Domestic Abuse Strategic Board have been established: one to oversee the 
implementation of Action Plans in relation to Domestic Homicide and Serious Incident 
Reviews, and one to oversee the multi-agency work in relation to civil and criminal justice 
including the MARAC. 

 
Multi Agency Working  
 
The definition of domestic abuse changed in March 2013 to include 16 and 17 year olds 
both as victims and perpetrators. A pilot project was undertaken in October – January 
2013 which reduced the age limit of cases referred to MARAC in anticipation of this 
change. As a result, Community Youth Teams and Youth Justice Service now have 
representatives attending MARAC and bringing relevant information regarding cases.  
 
The process for triaging safeguarding issues in relation to domestic abuse incidents 
reported to the police will continue at Snig Hill police station led by the Joint Investigation 
Team following the service reconfigurations e.g. appropriate and relevant information will 
be shared by the commissioned domestic abuse services to inform this process.  

 
Domestic Homicide and Serious Incident Reviews 
 
The city’s second Domestic Homicide Review Overview Report was submitted to the 
Home Office in December 2012 and is still awaiting quality assurance. Also in December, 
a decision was taken to develop a process for Domestic Abuse Serious Incident Reviews 
in relation to near misses and / or attempted murder, especially in situations where the 
case had been considered by MARAC. Such a review is now nearing completion and this 
will result in an action plan that will encompass learning relating to situations where a 
parent has been assessed as at high risk of serious harm or homicide and how agencies 
should apply a whole household approach in such cases.  
 
Challenges 
 
Challenges remain relating to ensuring agencies are confident using the ACPO DASH risk 
assessment tool hence the importance of ensuring the tool is referenced in the new Family 
CAF and the new pathway relates to the Integrated Front Door development.  

Page 67



53 
 

 
Some challenges remain in relation to information sharing e.g. setting up systems to 
ensure that information regarding the fact that an individual has been assessed as high 
risk of serious harm or homicide and has been referred to MARAC is communicated to 
GPs and Magistrates.  
 
Main safeguarding concerns in the area of Domestic Abuse  
 
As a result of the Serious Incident Review conducted last year the issue of separation as a 
risk factor has been highlighted as a safeguarding concern.  
 
The following is from the Co-ordinated Action Against Domestic Abuse (CAADA) Practice 
Guidance regarding the Association of Chief Police Officers Domestic Abuse, Stalking and 
Honour Based Violence (DASH) risk assessment; ‘Attempts to end a relationship are 
strongly linked to intimate partner homicide! It is therefore important that work is carried 
out to ensure that the victim can leave as safely as possible! This reinforces the 
importance of offering your client support beyond the point of separation as this is when 
victims are particularly at risk of further violence/homicide.’  It is notable in several of the 
reports in this case that agencies identified the separation of the parents as a factor that 
lessened risk of harm to the adult victim and child, however, this is not usually the case 
and as such, agencies should increase awareness of this fact and use it as a risk indicator. 
This is a specific tension for children’s services that often see the child as being protected 
by parental separation in domestic abuse cases.  
 
Priorities for 2013/14 
 
The coming 12 months will see the joint commissioning embedded with a cycle in place of 
analysis, planning, reviewing and delivery. Reconfigured community based services will be 
operating with, it is intended, improved responsiveness. Work will be continuing on the 
development of a new refuge with a single provider.  The issue of children’s provision in 
refuges will also be discussed during the year in the Joint Commissioning Group.  The 
intention is to move to a joint commissioning model whereby all elements of the service 
(e.g. support for adults and children) are commissioned together.  
 
The new governance structure will become embedded and an additional task to be 
progressed during the year is the development of a citywide strategic plan for the response 
to domestic and sexual abuse. An area that still needs to be progressed during these 
twelve months is the development of a Service User Reference Group to ensure the voice 
of the user informs service design going forward.   
 
Multi agency processes such as the MARAC are well established in Sheffield however due 
to issues of capacity both in terms of case numbers and the resources to support MARAC, 
it has been agreed that the Sheffield MARAC process should be reviewed this year. 

  

Page 68



54 
 

E-Safety 
 
During 2012-13 the E-safety Project has worked with many children, young people, 
parents and carers, professionals and staff within Sheffield.  This year there has been 
engagement on a wider scale specifically across the Yorkshire and Humberside region 
and nationally in an advisory role for the Child Exploitation and Online Protection Centre 
Education Advisory Board. 
  
Children, Young People & Parents/Carers 
Consultation with children and young people has significantly increased this year.  From 
September 2012 schools have been offered the opportunity for their pupils to complete an 
e-safety online questionnaire and to undertake pupil focus groups.  Currently 20 primary 
schools and 5 secondary schools have participated.  This level of consultation gives the 
school an overview of what their children like doing online, what their concerns are and to 
what level they are supported in school and at home.  From this data we have been able to 
identify any gaps in support and target areas of concern which can be addressed at school 
level. The combined information from schools provides data to obtain an overview for 
Sheffield which will impact on our e-safety strategy in planning support and activities to 
meet the current specific needs of our young people in the city. 
 
Support for parents has continued with e-safety workshops delivered in schools across the 
city.  For the first time a parents event was held in collaboration with 3 south west schools.  
The event offered workshops for parents to give them information to help support their 
children around specific issues such as digital parenting, security and parental controls, 
identifying and dealing with sexual exploitation and digital footprints. The event also gave 
young people from the schools the opportunity to take part by running workshops to 
provide information and guidance relating to setting parental controls on digital devices 
and mobile phones. The event was very well received by parents with 89% of attendees 
stating that the evening covered all aspects of E-safety parents need to be aware of.  One 
parent commented, "Everybody should come to this - after all, don't we all want to do 
whatever we can to protect our children. 
 
In collaboration with ‘Disney’ and the Child Exploitation and Online Protect Centre we were 
based in the ‘Disney’ Store in Meadowhall for Safer Internet Day. We ran activities for 
children and gave e-safety advice to parents from across the South Yorkshire region.   
 
Training 
This year we have had success in providing e-safety training and awareness for early 
years and childcare providers in the city.  A consultation group was created which included 
the E-safety Project Manager, Safeguarding Service Early Years Consultant and early 
years / childcare providers to create a model e-safeguarding policy and supporting 
documents to enable them to implement sound policies and good e-safeguarding practice. 
The policies were launched in March 2013. 
 
The training programme for schools has been extremely well attended by staff from all 
sectors of education including nursery, primary, secondary, academies, independent and 
special schools.  This provides schools with an overview of e-safeguarding and the tools to 
implement a whole school approach to support children, staff and the whole school 
community.  We have also provided an opportunity for a school to take part in a national 
pilot scheme for the Information Commissioner’s Office.From the feedback we have 
received, the training and support we have provided has had a significant impact for 
schools. 

Page 69



55 
 

 

“This year saw a reduction in the number of e-safety incidents involving students in KS3 due the impact of 
the help, support and ongoing guidance provided by The E-safety Project Manager and the amazing 
opportunities our partnership has provided to the School, our students, staff and parents. It has enabled us 
to move all aspects of e-safeguarding forward for the benefit of our students, parents and staff”. 
 

“!Students in Y7-Y11 completed an online E-Safety questionnaire to identify the current issues relevant to 
E-safety across our school to inform our e-safeguarding action plan.” 
 

“!The impact being that students are aware of how to protect themselves through using e-communications 
responsibly as a powerful resource for learning.” 
 

C. Gott 
Assistant Headteacher, High Storrs School 

 
“The support has been instrumental in the school moving forward at a considerable rate and improving its 
practice with the inclusion of some innovative approaches”.  
 

“The school is now in a position where it is very clear about the online practice of children in each year group 
through pupil interviews and questionnaires and is adjusting the curriculum to meet children's needs. 
Systems are now in place to gather the views of parents and pupils in order to ensure the provision of E-
safety is most effective”. 
 

“In conclusion, the support given by the E-safety Project Manager has enabled the E-safety co-ordinator to 
pinpoint areas of development and rapidly improve the provision of E-safety. It has been an extremely 
successful and effective partnership that is having a striking and impressive impact”. 
 

J. Chadbourne 

Deputy Headteacher, Nook Lane Junior School 

 

School Governors have had an e-safety training programme for the first time this year.  
Five sessions have been delivered across the city which have been well attended and 
have had a very positive impact in enabling Governors to understand their responsibilities 
in relation to e-safeguarding. 
 

One of the main challenges this year has been to encourage more parents to attend 
awareness and support sessions.  However, despite the opportunities we have provided 
some of the numbers attending have still not been high in some areas.  Although this 
continues to be a challenge, we have seen an increase in the last few months 
 
Priorities for 2013/14 
The e-safeguarding landscape rapidly changes and the past year has been very 
challenging in keeping abreast with advances in technology, the emergence of new 
environments and risks to children and young people.  There is concern around the 
creation and distribution of self-generated indecent images which is being addressed in 
our schools by educating young people of the possible consequences.  The increase use 
of Apps and mobile technologies to access the internet has also heightened concerns as 
supervision becomes more difficult for parents. 
 

The risk of children being sexually exploited online is part of all our e-safeguarding training 
to raise awareness with professionals, parents and young people.  Training is delivered in 
collaboration with the Sexual Exploitation Service and support and advice is given to 
parents and young people who are involved with this service. 
 

Over the next year there will be further consultation with children and young people and 
also projects to involve parents in the development of e-safety within their schools. 
 

A new e-safety section of the Safeguarding website is to be created with advice for 
schools, parents and young people. 

Page 70



56 
 

Licensing Project 
 
Main achievements  
 
Over 2012-13 the Licensing Project has developed existing work and established new 
initiatives, including: 
 

• Promotion of the Code of Good Safeguarding Practice in relation to families living at 
licensed premises, so that corporate licensees are aware of their social 
responsibilities and how to support families living at their premises. 

 

• Undertaking an advisory role to the National Working Group for the Prevention of 
Child Sexual Exploitation in relation to engaging local businesses and it has 
contributed to the development of a national awareness campaign with the 
hospitality trade. 

 

• Expansion of the False ID awareness campaign.  Materials (a short film and 
factsheet) have been developed in consultation with young people, for inclusion in 
the Substances And You (S.A.Y.) educational resource pack.  The resources will be 
used in schools and the factsheet is for young people to access via social media 
networks.  This aspect of the campaign is a preventive measure, to discourage 
young people from using false identification to access age restricted products or 
venues. 

 

• Further developing the training previously piloted with the taxi/private hire vehicle 
trade in regional consultation with drivers, Licensing Authorities, Local Safeguarding 
Children Boards and Adult Safeguarding Services.  The training is well received by 
trainees and relevant bodies and continues to be delivered as part of the BTec 
training at Sheffield College. 

 

• The project has seen improved engagement with health and social care workers 
following a number of worksite presentations throughout the year. 

 

• The Licensing Project received recognition for its partnership work with the ‘Leaders 
in Action’ award (South Yorkshire Police, June 2012), the Purple Flag award (July 
2012, Sheffield City Council City Centre Team) and in February 2013 the project 
received the South Yorkshire Police Partnership Award. 

 
Our challenges 
 
As work expands, the project continues to be faced with competing priorities.  This has 
resulted in some tasks being deferred (for example the review and accreditation of the 
training for licensees and the move towards a paper-free E-Systems).   
 
As the effects of the economy increasingly impact on local businesses, events and public 
sector partners, it has been vital to keep safeguarding high on partners’ agendas to ensure 
that standards are not affected by budget considerations.  This has involved negotiating 
with licensing partners about prospective changes to the way premises/events operate, so 
that safeguarding remains a priority. 
 
 

Page 71



57 
 

The main safeguarding concerns  
 
This year saw an escalation of concerns relating to the availability and misuse of ‘new 
psychoactive substances’ (‘legal highs’).  In response to reports from schools and a local 
young people’s substance misuse treatment agency, the Licensing Project developed a 
multi-agency strategy to raise awareness of the issue.  The strategy includes educating 
staff working in ‘head shops’ about the risks to young people who misuse this type of 
substance and requires them to operate a voluntary policy restricting the sale of risk-
related products to children and young people.  It also educates traders about the legal 
consequences of breaching Trading Standards regulations.  This work has become the 
foundation for a broader local campaign including adult services and will be further 
developed over 2013–14. 
 
Working in partnership with other organisations 
 
The Licensing Project Manager works in partnership with statutory agencies, local 
businesses and other organisations in the following ways; 
 

• Contributing at multi agency ‘Safety Advisory Group’ meetings.  These are attended 
by statutory, private and voluntary sector agencies to plan large scale public events.  
The Licensing Project Manager advises on risk management procedures in relation 
to children and young people.   

• Chairing the ‘Tackling Underage Sales Group’ meetings.  This group comprises 
officers of the police, trading standards and licensing authority and shares 
information/strategy in relation to problem premises, develops and delivers new 
initiatives and reviews/evaluates the training that is provided by this partnership 
group to the licensed trade to promote safeguarding children at licensed premises. 

• Representing the SSCB on the DACT’s Alcohol Sub Group within various SNAs.  
This comprises representatives from local services to specifically address issues 
raised by the local community in relation to alcohol.  The partnership is attended by 
the Licensing Project Manager, Community Youth Teams, DACT, trading 
standards, local residents, schools and police.   

• The Licensing Project works proactively with its private sector partners by advising 
event organisers, promoters and local retailers including large corporate 
organisations; also by attending Licencewatch Committee and Pubwatch meetings 
and consulting with the trade when producing best practice guidance, tools and 
guidance. 

 
The project has received recognition for its partnership work as outlined above. 
 
How the project works with families, children and young people 
 
The project routinely engages with parents/carers who live at licensed premises in relation 
to their lifestyle and the environmental issues that may present at this type of household.  
This takes place during advice visits to licensed premises.  We also assist families who 
may have issues if they live in proximity to licensed premises, for example if children are 
exposed to irresponsible behaviour or noise. This type of engagement is usually by written 
correspondence when we respond to their complaints. 
 
We also engage with young people when undertaking face to face work, delivering 
awareness workshops (as part of the local police restorative justice response when they 

Page 72



58 
 

are found using false ID) and we routinely consult with young people when producing 
educational or publicity materials, as outlined above, by going into schools. 
 
How our work impacts 
 
By delivering a significant amount of training and awareness to local businesses and 
partner agencies we are proactively challenging perceptions about social responsibility 
towards children in the broader community, embedding the concept that ‘safeguarding 
children is everyone’s business’.  We know this by:  

• Assessing the feedback and evaluations from training events and the positive 
responses/comments we receive from other local safeguarding children 
boards/statutory agencies and other organisations  

•  The increase in the number of enquiries/referrals/complaints we receive year on 
year.   

 
Comments from this year’s training include: 
 
“I found this course very beneficial, thank you” (licensee) 
“Covered a lot but we ran out of time, the course could maybe be a bit longer, it was good 
that people could give their input” (licensee) 
“Excellent event”  (BTec trainee, taxi/private hire vehicle driver) 
“Need to share all this information with rest of taxi drivers” (BTec trainee, taxi/private hire 
vehicle driver) 
 
We also measure impact by quantifying the number of licensed premises/events that 
operate (either by choice or under licence conditions) the safeguarding measures we ask 
for, so that places are safer for children and young people and the number of advice visits 
and complaints investigated (36 complaints were investigated and a further 27 premises 
received advice visits). 
 
Our work also impacts by contributing towards licence reviews to address problems at 
licensed premises which can result in better measures being established to manage risk, 
or the risk being eradicated, depending on the determination of the Licensing Authority.  
We contributed towards 8 licence reviews this year. 
 
A number of other local authorities have requested guidance about the way the Sheffield 
Safeguarding Children Board has approached licensing and have adapted our materials, 
suggesting a broader impact of this local work. 
 
Over the next year the Licensing Project aims to; 
 

• Deliver a training session for Events Managers to embed the revised good practice 
guidance for safeguarding children and young people at events. 

• Develop the local NPS/legal highs campaign to include staff training for people 
working in schools and social care residential homes. 

• Transfer business support paper systems to E-systems. 
 
  
 
  

Page 73



59 
 

Safeguarding Children Who Live in Households with 
Substance Misuse 
 
During the period 2012 – 2013 the service has primarily focused on the following areas of 
work: 
 
Safeguarding Children Substance Misuse refresher events 
 
This year the main focus was “working with hostile and uncooperative families who misuse 
drugs and alcohol”, but the seminars also covered an introduction and update on the 
Sheffield Alcohol Screening Tool and joint working between drug and alcohol workers and 
health visitors. To ensure a multi-agency response to these challenging areas of work, 
health visitors, specialist midwives, Family Intervention and Prevention workers and social 
care workers attended alongside drug and alcohol practitioners (269 people participated in 
the 6 events). 
  
The feedback was extremely positive;  
“Presentations were excellent! Packed a real punch!” 
“Engaging, insightful and evidence based”  
“Really enjoyed doing the case study with workers from different services!” 
“Now I know what to do and who to do it with! Thank you!” 
 
Parenting groups and resources for parents who misuse drugs and alcohol 
 
Sheffield now has 4 drug and alcohol workers that have been trained and accredited to 
deliver Triple P parenting groups. The parenting groups will be organised in partnership 
with MAST but will specifically engage drug and alcohol misusing parents and will be run 
in the drug and alcohol services. 
  
The first course has been completed and initial feedback from parents and workers 
involved with the families has been very positive. A service user consultation is now being 
undertaken with the participants. 
 
Parenting worksheets have also been developed and are available through the 
Safeguarding Children Substance Misuse Service web pages for use with parents who 
misuse drugs and alcohol. 
 
Contributions to the National Substance Misuse and Safeguarding Children Agenda 
 
The Safeguarding Children Substance Misuse Service was invited to speak at a recent 
Community Care Conference: “Whole Family Support for Drug and Alcohol Misusers” 
following a recommendation by the National Treatment Agency (NTA) who visited 
Sheffield in January 2012. The NTA felt that the Sheffield model of multi-agency working 
regarding safeguarding children who live in households where substance misuse features 
was one that should be showcased.  The presentation was well received and has been 
followed by a marked increase in interest from other local authorities regarding the work 
undertaken in Sheffield. 
 
The Safeguarding Children Substance Misuse Service also represents Sheffield on a 
National Expert Group “Parental Alcohol Misuse: Uncovering and Responding to 
Children’s Needs at a Local Level”  

Page 74



60 
 

 
MAPLAG (Multi-Agency Pregnancy Liaison and Assessment Group) 
Local screening / risk assessment system for all pregnant women who disclose 
drug and alcohol misuse 
 
129 pregnant women were referred into the MAPLAG system of assessment. 103 babies 
were born of which 78% discharged home with their mothers with appropriate care plans in 
place.   
 
Improved information gathering pathways due to newly established links with key agencies 
(e.g. Probation and open access substance misuse agencies) resulted in earlier and more 
informed risk assessments being undertaken. 
 
The MAPLAG user consultation undertaken in 2012 received positive feedback with the 
general theme being that women felt happy about the process and supported by the 
professionals they saw during their pregnancy. They said they would recommend women 
in similar situations to engage in the appointments and the process in order to achieve the 
best outcomes for them and their family. However the majority of women who disclosed 
cannabis or alcohol use in pregnancy refused onward referral to a drug agency and it was 
evident that they viewed themselves as pregnant women that occasionally smoked 
cannabis or drank alcohol rather than women with substance misuse issues that are 
pregnant. Further discussion is required with them about where they feel the most 
appropriate environment would be to receive education, support and advice. 
 
Advice and Consultation regarding substance misuse and safeguarding children 
 
The Safeguarding Children Substance Misuse provided 723 consultations relating to 
improving outcomes for children whose parents misuse drugs and alcohol.  
 
This year the Service also attended monthly case discussion meetings at each of the drug 
and alcohol treatment services to discuss cases and help identify early intervention 
pathways, as well as receiving increased numbers of calls from services involved with 
children and families regarding identifying parental drug and alcohol misuse and accessing 
drug and alcohol treatment services.  
 
Together these have helped promote better multi-agency working and information sharing, 
and developed a greater understanding of the issues affecting families where there is drug 
and alcohol misuse, enhancing the prospects of a positive outcome for the family at an 
earlier stage. 
 
Launching the Sheffield Alcohol Screening Tool into services working with children 
and families 
 
The Sheffield Alcohol Screening Tool is part of a citywide campaign to raise awareness 
and provide information around alcohol use. Health & Social Care services (including 
GP’s, dentists, pharmacists, housing officers, social care workers, health visitors) across 
Sheffield are asking ALL adults they have contact with evidence based questions relating 
to drinking alcohol.  Its purpose is to ensure ALL adults living in Sheffield are informed 
about their current drinking and the affect this could have on their health and family life. 
Where it is appropriate, an offer for further assessment, information or support by an 
alcohol worker can be offered.  
 

Page 75



61 
 

The Sheffield Alcohol Screening Tool is easy to use and enables personalised brief advice 
to be produced which can then be sent or emailed to the parent.  
 
It is now part of Children’s Social Care Initial Assessment and between February 4th 2013 
and June 11th 2013 620 parents have been screened with 31 accepting onward referral to 
alcohol services (In 2011 – 12, prior to the introduction of the alcohol screening tool only 8 
parents were referred into drug and alcohol services). 
 
Refreshing the Hidden Harm Strategy and Implementation Plan (together with the 
DACT and other partner agencies) 
 
The development of the Hidden Harm Strategy (2013) was informed by the findings of a 
review into the previous Hidden Harm Strategy (2010 – 2013) which included recognising 
drug and alcohol treatment and recovery as a protective factor for families; documenting 
the current practice in Sheffield; identifying new insights and understandings as well as 
considering both national and local research, evidence based practice and case reviews. 
  
The Hidden Harm Strategy (2013) and Implementation Plan was endorsed by SSCB on 
June 20th 2013. 
 
Challenges this year 
 
The main challenges the Safeguarding Children Substance Misuse Service has faced this 
year have related to; 

• The increase in both the volume of advice and consultation calls as well as the 
variety of information and advice being requested. However this has resulted in 
improved multi-agency working and information sharing.  

• Ensuring the Sheffield Alcohol Screening Tool was embedded into Sheffield’s 
children and family systems and processes e.g. Family CAF, social care’s 
assessment process has involved attending a large number of meetings and 
delivering a considerable number of training sessions and briefings. 

 
Main safeguarding children concerns this year 
 
Parents not recognising the impact that cannabis and alcohol misuse can have on their 
parenting and their children and therefore are unwilling to make changes or access 
services that will help them address it. The Safeguarding Children Substance Misuse 
service will work with parents and drug treatment services to produce information leaflets 
regarding cannabis misuse and how it impacts on parenting. 
 
The impact of the work undertaken this year 
 
Through the work undertaken by the Safeguarding Children Substance Misuse service this 
year we can evidence; 

• Improved communication and understanding of referral pathways between adult 
services and those working with children and families resulting in; 
! increased referrals into drug and alcohol services from children and family 

services 
! increased joint working between Family Intervention and Prevention services 

and Drug and Alcohol services 
improved attendance at child protection meetings by drug and alcohol workers  

Page 76



62 
 

• Increased understanding, by drug and alcohol workers, of the different  affects 
parental drug and alcohol misuse can have on children in the household resulting 
in; 
o Improved information and advice provided to parents to support them in making 

informed choices (evidenced through feedback from Triple P group and 
MAPLAG user consultation) 

 
Objectives for 2013-2014 
 

• Evaluate and develop the parenting programmes, tools and resources currently utilised 
within the substance misuse services with the aim of ensuring all parents accessing 
drug and alcohol treatment services receive additional support with their parenting and 
thus benefit their children and family. 

• Undertake “good practice case reviews” to identify the children’s journey when the 
parent accesses drug and alcohol treatment services with the aim of highlighting and 
expanding on good practice and identifying areas for improvement. 

• Embed the Hidden Harm Strategy into the daily working of services in Sheffield 
focusing on the 7 strategic priority areas:  Commissioning and governance; early 
identification of drug and alcohol misuse; whole household approach; addressing 
intergenerational drug and alcohol misuse; drug and alcohol treatment and recovery, 
workforce and data collection. 

 

Page 77



63 
 

Safeguarding in our Faith Communities 
 
The Safeguarding Children Service works closely with the Anglican, Catholic and Muslim 
faith communities in Sheffield.  
 
The Diocese of Hallam Catholic Safeguarding Commission has an advisory, supportive 
and monitoring function in matters relating to safeguarding children, young people and 
vulnerable adults in the Diocese Congregations. The Commission has an independent 
(lay) Chair, the Head of the Safeguarding Children Service attends alongside other 
members with safeguarding experience/expertise. The Commission co-operates with 
statutory bodies which have particular responsibilities in these areas. 
   
The Safeguarding Management Group of the Anglican Diocese meets quarterly to discuss 
issues in the Anglican Churches in the Sheffield area.  The meetings are chaired by an 
Archdeacon and a Safeguarding Service Manager attends these. In the last year the 
meetings have focused on:  
  

• Training for clergy and other church personnel on raising awareness on 
safeguarding children. 

• Managing allegations against staff and management of cases where people may 
pose a risk and wish to attend church. 

• Keeping the meeting up to date on changes in Safeguarding both locally and 
nationally (including Working Together to Safeguard Children 2013). 

• Case work – updates the members of the meeting on issues that are on-going in 
regard to clergy and other staff who are being investigated for allegations or 
convictions of abuse. Changes to Disclosure and Barring Services. 

• The Interim Chichester Report and action plan (a report that addressed the issues 
of child abuse that had occurred in the Chichester area, where the convicted 
perpetrators were clergy and other staff in the Church). 

.   
The Sheffield Safeguarding Children Service has worked closely with the Mosques and 
Madrasahs in the City, with the assistance of a Community Adviser (a respected Muslim 
scholar and cleric who lives in the city). In the last year the focus of the work has been; 
 

• A programme of Safeguarding training for Imams and teachers.  

• Identifying Child Protection Officers at the majority of Madrasahs (these take the 
safeguarding lead for their establishment if concerns are raised about the safety or 
wellbeing of children who attend for religious or supplementary studies). 

• Working closely with the Mosques and Madrassahs and the Local Authority 
Designated Officer (LADO) to seek to prevent the use of physical chastisement.  

• Working with schools to improve community cohesion and understanding for the 
benefit of pupils (e.g. the Community Advisor has played a significant role in 
assisting with a community /school relationship as well as working with a number of 
schools to improve their understanding of cultural issues). 

 
 
  

Page 78



64 
 

Transitions 
 
Main achievements 
 
Best Practice Guidance for transition of young people focused to adult oriented services 
A multi-agency task and finish group, with members from children’s and adult services, 
developed this document for all agencies to use as a basis for their single agency 
protocols. A group of young people considered the document and made suggestions so 
that it is more appropriate to the needs of young people.  The document has been 
approved by the Operational Board of Sheffield Safeguarding Children Board (SSCB).  It 
was launched at the (SSCB) half day conference in April 2013.  The document is available 
on the SSCB website. 
 
Awareness raising in relation to The Mental Capacity Act 2005 (MCA) and Deprivation of 
Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) 
MCA applies to all young people and adults over the age of 16 and DoLS to all over 18 
years old, although there has been a test case where a 17 year old young man was found 
to have been deprived of his liberty.  It is essential that awareness is raised amongst all 
workers, both in Children’s and Adult Services, on the implications and responsibilities of 
MCA and DoLS. Various initiatives are on-going to achieve this, including: a session on 
MCA and DoLS at the SSCB half day conference in April, training for fieldwork Social 
Workers receiving a session on MCA and DoLS (consideration is given to MCA and DoLS, 
along with transfer to adult services), and training of Child Protection Co-ordinators in 
respect of young people aged 14 and over.  Audits are being undertaken to assess 
knowledge, uptake of training and presentation of information to plan the way forward on 
MCA and DoLS. 
 
Improved Working Together between Children’s and Adult Services 
This work has been commissioned by SSCB and Sheffield Adult Safeguarding Partnership 
(SASP).  This has given the opportunity for colleagues to work on initiatives that 
encompass both children’s and adult services.  Examples of this are; the work on the Best 
Practice Guidance mentioned above, audit work, the Planning Table for transitions 
(reported to SCCB and SASP Operational Boards), and awareness raising on MCA and 
DoLS. 
 
Main Challenges 
 
On occasions it has been challenging to get agencies engaged in responding to requests 
for assurance or audit.  However, both the Operational Boards of SSCB and SASP have 
been supportive and have encouraged agencies to respond.  Consequently work is now 
moving forward on these issues. 
 
Main Safeguarding concerns 
 
Child Protection Conferences 
There are very few young people subject of child protection plans who are aged 14 and 
over, but it is essential that the needs of these young people are met and they are 
adequately safeguarded.  A session was held with the Child Protection Co-ordinators in 
September 2012 to raise awareness on MCA and DoLS and to encourage inclusion in 
child protection plans of early planning for transfer to adult services for those young people 
who will need them.  An audit is to be undertaken to identify any gaps on this issue and to 
help plan services accordingly. 

Page 79



65 
 

 
Young People involved in Sexual Exploitation 
Young people who are at risk of, or are involved in Sexual Exploitation, do not stop being 
vulnerable on their 18th birthday.  In some circumstances the Child Sexual Exploitation 
Services may continue working with a young person until they are 19, but it is necessary to 
ensure that services continue for these vulnerable young adults.  This is currently being 
considered at a strategic level. 
 
Evidence of Multi-Agency Working 
 
The majority of this work is multi-agency based in view of it being commissioned by SSCB 
and SASP.  Improved working across children’s and adult services is starting to be 
reflected too.  Examples of multi-agency working include; 
 

• Development of ‘Best Practice Guidance in Transitions from Young People 
Focussed to Adult Oriented Services.’ 

• Collation of agency information available for young people, their parents and carers 
on transfer from children’s to adult Services. 

• Multi-Agency training on MCA and DoLS. 

• Regular updates provided to both SSCB and SASP. 
 
Evidence of Working with Young People 
 
A group of young people were involved with the development of the Key Principles on Best 
Practice document.  A draft of the document was taken to a meeting of the young people, 
where a facilitated discussion took place.  Most of their comments were in relation to the 
language used; on their advice the title of the document was changed.  The suggestions 
made by the young people were taken on board and included in the document. 
 
Impact of work undertaken 
 
There has been a gradual improvement in the knowledge base of staff in all agencies on 
MCA and DoLS.  This will improve the outcomes for young people. 
 
Plans for the next 12 months 
 

• Complete all the actions on the planning table by December 2013, demonstrating 
that that the “Measures of Success” have been achieved.  Work on improving 
transition from young people focussed services to adult services will then be the 
responsibility of partner agencies.  SSCB and SASP may decide to audit agencies 
from time to time to be assured that improvement is maintained. 

• Promote training on MCA and DoLS across all agencies in both Children’s and 
Adult services. 

 
 
   

Page 80



66 
 

SECTION FOUR – SSCB PRIORITIES FOR 2013/14 
 

Sheffield Safeguarding Children Board Business Plan 2013/14 
 
This Business Plan takes place during a time of significant change both nationally and 
locally with major reforms to health services, reductions in public sector funding, the 
launch of the new Working Together to Safeguard Children 2013 and the implementation 
of the Munro Review into Child Protection.  
 
Sheffield has an effective Safeguarding Board with strong partnership working and 
arrangements and this will continue to be built on and strengthened during this period of 
change.  
 
All of these changes have been taken into consideration in the development of this year’s 
business plan. This plan will run for one year and will be updated quarterly using the SSCB 
dashboard. This allows both progress to be monitored and also enables us to quickly 
identify any delays or risks to implementation. 
 
An effective Board demonstrates good practice by; 
 

• Identifying and agreeing a small number of priorities and concentrating on doing 
those well. 

• Undertaking regular reviews and updates of the Business Plan. 
  
Vision Statement 
 
The SSCB vision is that; 
 

• Every child and young person in Sheffield should be able to grow up free from the 
fear of abuse or neglect.    

• We are committed to improving the safety of all children and young people in 
Sheffield. If children are not safe, they cannot be healthy, happy, achieve or reach 
their full potential. We recognise and promote the concept that keeping children 
safe is everybody’s responsibility. 

 
Objectives 
 
The objectives of the LSCB are set out in s.14 of the Children Act 2004 as; 
 

• Coordinate what is done by each person or body represented on the board for the 
purpose of safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children in the area. 

• To ensure the effectiveness of what is done by each such person or body for those 
purposes. 

 
 
 
Core Business and Functions 
 

• Develop local procedures and policies. 

Page 81



67 
 

• Communicate the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children, raising 
their awareness of how this can best be done and encourage them to do so. 

• Participate in local planning of services for children. 

• Undertake reviews of serious cases and advise the authority and board partners on 
lessons to be learnt. 

• Monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of what is done by partners individually and 
collectively to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and advise them on 
ways to improve. 

• Assess whether board partners are fulfilling their statutory obligations under s.11 of 
the Children Act 2004. 

• Monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of training. 

• Produce and publish an Annual Report on the effectiveness of safeguarding in the 
local area.  

 
Sheffield Safeguarding Children Board   
 
Through the Board structure the SSCB provides the strategic and operational direction of 
safeguarding and continuous monitoring of performance in Sheffield. The Board produces 
the Annual Business Plan and the Annual Report. The Board provides funding for an 
Independent Safeguarding Children Board Chair who provides leadership to the Board via 
effective chairing of meetings and representation of the SSCB in the public domain. The 
Board receives reports on an annual basis from priority safeguarding areas, including 
LADO, private fostering, missing children, and Child Sexual Exploitation.   
 

Page 82



68 
 

 
 

Objective 1: Challenge 
 

A key function of the SSCB is the need to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of what 
is done by its partner agencies individually and collectively to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children and advise them on ways to improve. This will be achieved through 
supportive challenge. 
 

 Key activity Completion Date Lead Board Officer 

 

A s.11 audit will be undertaken. This will 
be a joint audit with Sheffield 
Safeguarding Adults Partnership and will 
focus on the essential requirements. In 
addition it will look at how agencies 
address early help and issues of data 
security. The s.11 will be underpinned by 
a challenge event where a senior  
representative will assure the Board that 
their agency is compliant with s.11.and 
where gaps have been identified they 
have an action plan in place to address 
this. 
 

March 2014 
Research & 

Performance Officer 

 

s.11 audits will be conducted on a rolling 
3 year programme but in the intervening 
years a single agency audit will take place 
with those organisations that are more 
disparate; in 2013-14 this will be the 
education sector.     
 

December 2013 
Research & 

Performance Officer 

 

A multi-agency audit and evaluation sub-
group will be developed with partners that 
will provide oversight of single agency 
audit activity which is taking place in the 
city. Part of the remit of that group will be 
to identify areas for more in depth 
independent audit led by the SSCB.   
 

October 2013 
Research & 

Performance Officer 

 

Regular follow up and monitoring of 
actions arising out of the review and audit 
process will ensure that improvements 
are sustained and making a real impact 
on improving outcomes for children. 
 

March 2014 
Practice Review & 

Standards Coordinator 

 
  

Page 83



69 
 

 
 

Objective 2: Responding to Change 
 

There are a number of key changes that will take place in the public sector during the 
coming year. These will include significant changes in the way our partner agencies 
operate in the health, social care, education, police and probation sectors. In addition 
consideration needs to be given to the likely impact of social policy reforms and the 
changes in the demographics of the city. 
 

 Key activity 
Completion 

Date 
Lead Board 

Officer 
 

The revised Working Together to Safeguard Children 
statutory guidance will be launched in the next year 
which will require the board to; 

• Quality assure and evaluate the effectiveness of 
local performance, procedure and practice.  

• Revise the SSCB safeguarding policies and 
procedures. 

• Revise training programmes. 

• Develop new processes for learning from 
practice, including Serious Case Reviews. 

 

March 2014 

SSCB Board 
Manager 

 
SSCB Training 

and 
Development 

Manager 
 

Practice Review 
& Standards 
Coordinator 

 

Ensure that there are appropriate links with other key 
strategic partnerships in the city, for example the 
Children’s Trust, and the Health and Well-Being Board. 
 

March 2014 
Professional 

Adviser to the 
Board 

 

Produce and analyse data in respect of the 
demographics of the city and ensure this is 
incorporated into the work the SSCB undertakes. 
 

March 2014 
Research & 
Performance 

Officer 

 

Raise awareness of the safeguarding responsibilities of 
those organisations that are under private or third 
sector control. 
 

March 2014 
SSCB Board 

Manager 

 
  

Page 84



70 
 

 
 

Objective 3: The Child’s Journey 
 

The Munro review of child protection re-emphasised the need for effective safeguarding 
systems to be child centred and that the focus should be on the child at every stage of 
the child protection process, from the beginning, through the middle to the end. It is 
important that Sheffield provides the right help at the right time to the right child. As 
Sheffield develops the FCAF and PAT models this will be the focus of the SSCB during 
2013-14. 
 

 Key activity 
Completion 

Date 
Lead Board 

Officer 
 

The SSCB will establish a base line report of the early 
help provided to children and families in the city and 
identify any gaps in provision. 
 

June 2013 
SSCB Board 

Manager 

 

The SSCB will receive and consider any internal 
audits and performance monitoring reports conducted 
on the PAT and FCAF but in addition will undertake a 
targeted independent audit to assure itself of the 
effectiveness of the new systems in meeting the 
needs of children, young people and families. 
 

March 2014 
SSCB Board 

Manager 

 

The SSCB will seek assurance of how well agencies 
and front line practitioners have embedded the 
thresholds of need guidance and that these are being 
consistently applied throughout the city. 
 

September 
2014 

Practice 
Review & 
Standards 

Coordinator 

 

A small audit team will be developed that links into the 
Audit and Evaluation sub-group which will routinely 
undertake sample audits of targeted groups. These 
will include, pre-birth assessments, children with 
disabilities, children who sexually offend, BME 
children subject to CP Plans. 
 

March 2014 
Research & 
Performance 

Officer 

 

The transitions action plan to be implemented and 
monitored via the Operational Board. March 2014 

Service 
Manager – 

Safeguarding 
Service 

 

 
  

Page 85



71 
 

 
  

Objective 4: Child Sexual Exploitation 
 

A number of significant reports have been published in the last year, including the Interim 
Report of the Children’s Commissioner; ‘I thought I was the only one’, and the ACPO Child 
Sexual Exploitation Action Plan which have been considered by the SSCB. In light of recent 
research both nationally and locally, Sheffield is developing a new delivery model based on 
the 4 key principles of prevention, protection, pursue and prosecution and the SSCB will 
seek assurance that this model provides effective intervention. 
 

 Key activity 
Completion 

Date 
Lead Board 

Officer 
 

The SSCB will request and receive regular reports on 
the effectiveness of the new service delivery model 
focusing on the key principles of prevention, protection, 
pursue and prosecution. 
 

March 2014 
SSCB Board 

Manager 

 

The SSCB will lead a task and finish sub-group which 
will report on the current awareness raising and training 
provided on CSE throughout the city and develop an 
action plan for the delivery of a coordinated, rolling 
programme that ensures all key practitioners have 
received input on CSE. 
 

September 
2013 

SSCB Training 
and 

Development 
Manager 

 

The SSCB will ensure that CSE is linked in with other 
key developments in the city, for example missing 
children, gangs, building successful families. 
 

September 
2013 

Practice Review 
& Standards 
Coordinator 

 
   

Page 86



 

 1

 
 

 
 

 
Report of: Jayne Ludlam, Executive Director, Children, Young People 

and Families 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Subject: Adoption Service  
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Author of Report: Liz Spaven, Adoption & Fostering Service Manager,  
   Tel:  35155  
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary:  

• Update on the Adoption Service in line with adoption services statutory 
regulations and guidance  

__________________________________________________________ 
 
Type of item:  The report author should tick the appropriate box  

Reviewing of existing policy  

Informing the development of new policy  

Statutory consultation  

Performance / budget monitoring report  

Cabinet request for scrutiny  

Full Council request for scrutiny  

Community Assembly request for scrutiny  

Call-in of Cabinet decision   

Briefing paper for the Scrutiny Committee x 

Other  

 
The Scrutiny Committee is being asked to: 
  Note the report and its contents 
_______________________________________________________________ 
 
Background Papers:  
List any background documents (e.g. research studies, reports) used to write 
the report.  Remember that by listing documents people could request a copy.    

• Adoption Service Dataset 2012/13  

• An Action Plan for Adoption:  tackling delay 

• Adoption Scorecard Data 

• Yorkshire & Humber Adoption Consortium Reform Plan 

• Yorkshire & Humber Adoption Consortium Performance Reports 

• Adoption Passport: a support guide for adopters 
 
Category of Report: OPEN    

Report to CYP & FS Scrutiny & 
Policy Development Committee 

6
th
 February 2014 

Agenda Item 8

Page 87



 

 2

 
Report of the Director of Jayne Ludlam, Executive Director, 
Children, Young People and Families 
 
Sheffield City Council Adoption Service 

1. Introduction/Context 
 

1.1 In line with statutory guidance and regulation, all Adoption Services 
have to report to the executive side of the local authority in regard to 
the outcomes of the adoption service.  The Senior Leadership Team 
and other Boards within Children, Young Peoples and Families 
Service have received regular updates in relation to adoption 
performance. 

1.2 Sheffield Adoption Service was subject to an Ofsted inspection in 
June 2011 and the overall judgement was ‘good’ with some 
outstanding features.   

1.3 In light of the new Ofsted Inspection Framework for ‘the inspection 
of services for children in need of help and protection, children 
looked after and care leavers’ adoption services are now 
incorporated in to the single framework inspection process.   

2. The National Adoption Agenda and Sheffield Adoption Service  
 

2.1 The National Agenda  
 

2.1.1 In March 2012, the Department for Education published its 
‘Action Plan for Adoption: Tackling Delay.’ The report 
outlined what the government intended to do to accelerate 
the whole adoption process so that more children benefited 
from adoption and more rapidly. Adoption scorecards for 
each local authority were first published in May 2012.     
 

2.1.2 In July 2012, the Prime Minister announced proposals for 
the earlier placement of children in need of adoption, 
promoting the wider use of concurrent planning, and 
introducing the concept of ‘fostering for adoption’.  
 

2.1.3 In January 2013, the National Adoption Gateway was 
launched by First4Adoption with its information telephone 
helpline going live.  The DfE also published ‘Further Action 
on Adoption: Finding More Loving Homes’ in January 2013. 
The document announced proposals for changes to the 
adopter recruitment process, and a number of changes to 
give approved adopters a more active role in the process of 
finding a child. It also announced a package of 
improvements to the support available to adoptive families, 

Page 88



 

 3

including the launch of adoption passports from April 2013.  
Adoption passports are a guide to all adopters about the 
support and services that are available to them. Children 
who are adopted can have ongoing needs that both 
adopter and the child will benefit from post-adoption 
support. Local Authorities provide a range of support 
services for adopters and their children. Every adopter is 
entitled to advice about these services, and entitled to an 
assessment of your needs at any time.  
 

2.1.4 A new format for recording adopter assessments was 
launched, in full, by BAAF in February 2013, ahead of the 
implementation of a new, shorter, 2 stage assessment 
process, the details of which were published by the DfE in 
the Spring 2013, for implementation in the July 2013.  
Stage 1 process was implemented in July 2013 with Stage 
2 in September 2013.   
 

2.1.5 The service has made the relevant changes to ensure this 
assessment process is fully implemented and this will be 
embedded over the forthcoming months. 

2.2 Sheffield Response 
 

2.2.1 Sheffield has taken a number of actions to ensure that the 
agency will be able to meet the challenges ahead in 
improving timeliness.  This has been balanced with 
continuing to ensure quality for each child, whilst 
maintaining the current low level of placement disruption, 
and  high numbers of children placed for adoption, in 
particularly the more challenging to place children.  These 
being, older children, children with additional needs, 
children with complex emotional and behavioural issues or 
sibling groups. 
 

2.2.2 As at 30.09.13 27 children have been adopted.  In 
comparison to this position 12 months ago, this has 
increased by 9 children.   
 

2.2.3 The service is continuing to place ‘hard to place’ children or 
provide additional support to adopters with children that are 
placed but not yet adopted.   This has included for 
example, the recent adoptive placement of seven and nine 
year old boys, and eleven sibling groups.   
 

2.2.4 In regard to the assessment of adopters, for 2012/13 the 
service approved 43 new adopters.  As at 30.09.13, 17 
adopters have been approved by the agency with this 

Page 89



 

 4

figure hopefully increasing to 42 by the end of March 2014.  
The service is in the process of fully implementing the new 
stage 1 & 2 assessment process.   Adopters that have 
been assessed under this new process will be presented at 
the Adoption Panel from February 2014 onwards. 

2.2.5 The Adoption Service is working in partnership with 
Yorkshire and Humber Adoption Consortium.  This consists 
of 15 local authorities across the region The Consortium is 
using funds, from the Adoption Reform Grant, at a regional 
and sub-regional level over a 3 year period using the 
regional adoption consortium contract and network as the 
framework.  The purpose of this is to improve the quality of 
service for children and adopters through faster delivery, 
sharing best practice, and improved performance 
management and data reporting.     
 

2.2.6 The 4 local authorities in the South Region (Sheffield, 
Rotherham, Barnsley, and Doncaster) have set up specific 
working groups to support the Adoption Reform initiatives 
and to improve further working partnerships. This has 
included sharing good practice, post adoption support and 
training and recruitment.  SCC has been the lead authority 
in regard to the adoption preparation pack in light of the 
new Stage 1 & 2 assessment process.  It is likely that 
Sheffield Adoption’s Service training portfolio will be used 
as the benchmark due to the comprehensive package that 
has been developed and the sharing of this across the 
region.    
 

2.2.7 The Consortium has developed a regional marketing 
campaign that will compliment marketing activity within 
each local authority.  Information Evening dates across the 
sub region are being promoted by all the relevant LA’s.   
 

2.2.8 The service has implemented the new assessment 
process.  This process is adopter led.  The training 
programme for prospective adopters has been adapted to 
ensure it complies with the new assessment process and is 
continually evaluated to ensure the practice is within the 
appropriate timescale, value for money and offering the 
best opportunities for the prospective adopter.   
 

2.2.9 The Adoption Reform Grant for 2012/13 has not been 
without its challenges.  It has supported various activity 
within the service.  Increased activity has taken place in 
regard to family finding.  This has resulted in additional 
children being placed with VAA’s or other LA approved 
adopters. 
 

Page 90



 

 5

2.2.10 A number of additional posts have been temporarily 
created to support both the adoption service and fieldwork 
area teams.  This has included the appointment of an 
Agency Advisor to Adoption Panel who also has been a 
consultant to staff, increase in the capacity of the Family 
Finders, additional social work capacity to ensure robust 
plans for children are being made in a timely way and 
increased management support. 
 

2.2.11 The Theraplay research is underway with the investment in 
to this area of adoption support continuing.  This will be 
influenced by the Theraplay research being undertaken by 
Sheffield Hallam University. 
 

2.2.12 Robust tracking and monitoring systems are established 
and in place in regard to children that have an adoption 
plan or a permanence plan.  This includes monthly tracking 
meetings at each area site and agency prioritisation 
meetings that include the medical advisors to the LA. 

2.2.13 The Family, Adopters and Carers Team (FACT) continue to 
provide extensive support to families with the range of 
support services that are available to children and their 
families.  This has been expanded to include children who 
have been placed on alternative permanence court orders, 
for example, Special Guardianship Orders (SGO’s). FACT 
is a well-established team that deliver innovative packages 
of support to families through varied approaches 
dependant on the assessment of need, for example, group 
work as well as individual work.  

2.3 Statistics 
 

2.3.1 Children made subject to a ‘Should Be Placed for Adoption’ 
(SHOBPA) decision and outcomes. 

 
Year Total no of 

children 
with a 
SHOBPA 

Children 
linked/placed 
with adopters 

No of 
SHOBPA 
rescinds 

No of 
children 
disrupted 

No of children 
adopted 

2008/09 48 41 9 0 55 

2009/10 44 45 5 3 41 

2010/11 55 37 7 2 45 

2011/12 60 40 11 0 45 

2012/13 102 40 15 0 50 

30/09/13 107 41 6 0 27 

In relation to SHOBPA, the 107 figure includes the children that are already placed with 
adopters. 

 

Page 91



 

 6

2.3.2 Children may have SHOBPA decision/link/adoption in 
different years the figures above are taken as at end of 
March each year and will fluctuate throughout the year as 
the plan for children may change from adoption for various 
reasons, for example, family rehabilitation or Special 
Guardianship Orders (SGO’s) with extended family or 
foster carers, long term foster placement. 
 

2.3.3 The service has two well established adoption panels 
which aim to meet monthly.   Both panels have the same 
independent chair that has significant knowledge and 
experience of adoption issues.  All panels have been 
quorate which reflects the excellent commitment of the 
panel members.   
 

2.3.4 In February 2013 a dedicated Agency Advisor was 
appointed.   This provides consistency across both panels 
and provides independence to the post.  The Agency 
Advisor plays a key role in the quality assurance of all 
documents that are to be presented to panel and manages 
activity in regard to prioritisation of the panel agenda and 
SHOBPA decisions.   
 

2.3.5 Adoption Panels held each month  
 

April 2013 2 

May 2013 1 

June 2013 2 

July 2013 2 

August 2013 2 

September 2013 1 

 

2.3.6 From April – September 2013 the Agency Decision Makers 
(ADM) have been Jon Banwell, Assistant Director, Provider 
Services, Trevor Owen, Senior Manager, Safeguarding 
Children Service and Matthew Sampson, Interim Director, 
Children, Young People and Families.  Trevor Owen 
undertakes the ADM role in regard to SHOBPA’s on a 
monthly basis.  From October 2013, Matthew Sampson has 
no longer been the ADM and this role is now undertaken by 
Debbie Mercer, Assistant Director, Fieldwork.  The ADM’s 
role is to consider the adoption panel’s recommendation to 
make the final decision. The ADM is a nominated person 
within the adoption agency who has the legal responsibility 
to make an approval decision. In most circumstances this 
ADM accepts the adoption panel’s recommendation.  

  

Page 92



 

 7

3. What does this mean for the people of Sheffield? 
 

3.1 Children thrive in stable and loving families. Sometimes birth 
parents are unable to care for their children themselves. Getting the 
best possible care for these children is one of the LA’s most 
important corporate parent responsibilities.  
 

3.2 The LA has responded to the Government’s Action Plan as outlined 
above in the main body of the report.  The LA will continue to drive 
forward the adoption agenda to ensure that the child’s journey is 
undertaken in a timely manner whilst ensuring the best outcome.  
The priority for all children is to secure permanence.   Adoption is 
therefore a key and vital choice in any decision making that secures 
a child’s future within a stable family environment.   

4. Recommendation 
 

4.1 The Committee are being asked to note the report and its contents. 

Page 93



Page 94

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1

 
 

 
 

 
Report of: Jayne Ludlam, Executive Director, Children, Young People 

and Families 
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Subject: Fostering Service  
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Author of Report: Liz Spaven, Adoption & Fostering Service Manager,  
   Tel:  35155  
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary:  

• Update on Fostering Service in line with fostering services statutory 
regulations and guidance  

 
__________________________________________________________ 
 
Type of item:  The report author should tick the appropriate box  

Reviewing of existing policy  

Informing the development of new policy  

Statutory consultation  

Performance / budget monitoring report  

Cabinet request for scrutiny  

Full Council request for scrutiny  

Community Assembly request for scrutiny  

Call-in of Cabinet decision   

Briefing paper for the Scrutiny Committee x 

Other  

 
The Scrutiny Committee is being asked to: 
  Note the report and its contents 
_______________________________________________________________ 
 
Background Papers:  
List any background documents (e.g. research studies, reports) used to write 
the report.  Remember that by listing documents people could request a copy.    

• Fostering Service Dataset 2012/13 

• Fostering Service Business Case 2010 

• Fostering Service Key Campaign 2013/14 

• Fostering Capital Investment Report 
 
Category of Report: OPEN   

 

Report to CYP & FS Scrutiny & 
Policy Development Committee 

6
th
 February 2014 

Page 95



 

 2

Report of the Director of Jayne Ludlam, Executive Director, 
Children, Young People and Families 
 
Sheffield City Council Fostering Service 
 
1. Introduction  

 
1.1. In line with statutory guidance and regulation, all Fostering Services 

have to report to the executive side of the local authority in regard to 
the outcomes of the service.  The Senior Leadership Team and other 
Boards within Children, Young Peoples and Families Service have 
received regular updates in relation to fostering performance. 
 

1.2. Sheffield Fostering Service was subject to an Ofsted inspection in 
October 2011.  The overall judgement was ‘good’ with 2 of the 6 
outcomes being inspected and rated as outstanding.   
 

1.3. In light of the new Ofsted Inspection Framework for ‘the inspection of 
services for children in need of help and protection, children looked 
after and care leavers’, fostering services are now incorporated in to 
the single framework inspection process.   
 

2. Sheffield Fostering Service   
 
2.1. The recruitment and retention of foster carers is a corporate priority, 

and is recognised as such in the Corporate Plan. The 
Communications Plan supports the Business Case 2010 and 
continues to support the Fostering Service in the recruitment of 
additional foster carers and the retention of its current foster carers.  
The Fostering Recruitment Campaign was launched in January 2011 
and continues to date.  This has included TV and radio advertising, 
web activity, bus and train station, JCD sites and attendance at 
community events across the city.   Information Evenings continue to 
be scheduled every 6 weeks.   
 

2.2. The retention of foster carers is crucial for the Business Case to 
continue to be successful.  Various retention initiatives have been in 
place over the last 3 years and continue.  These being:   

 

• Priority housing initiatives  

• Increase in ‘refer a friend’ fee 

• Skill Level progression  

• Increased learning & developments opportunities for foster carers 

• Events for children in care, foster carers and birth children 

• Increased Support Groups 

• Foster Forum web based communication tool 

• Voices Of Foster Carers Group 

• Foster Carers Open Forums 

• Kids of Foster Carers ‘R’ Us Group 

• Involvement of foster carers in strategic initiatives 

• Foster carers involvement in recruitment to staff to SCC 

Page 96



 

 3

• Foster carers involvement in training for staff and prospective 
foster carers 

• Experienced foster carers are mentors to newly approved foster 
carers. 

 

2.3    The Fostering Service and its foster carers continue to provide a high 
level of care and promotes the health, welfare and safety of children 
and young people. Foster carers receive a good level of support from 
qualified workers in line with statutory regulations and guidance.  
Foster carers have access to a wide range of learning and 
development opportunities. This enables them to develop their 
understanding and skills in supporting children and young people and 
promote positive outcomes for them.   
 

2.4 The service has two established fostering panels which aim to meet 
monthly.   Both panels have a separate chair, with  both having 
significant knowledge and experience of fostering issues.  All panels 
have been quorate which reflects the excellent commitment of the 
panel members.  The fostering panel has had one panel advisor for 
this 6 month period.   
 

2.5 In February 2013 a dedicated Agency Advisor was appointed to the 
Adoption Service Panel.   This has provided consistency across 
adoption panels as well as the independence of the post.  The aim for 
2014/15, is for this post to take on the responsibility of Agency Advisor 
to the Fostering Panel.   
 

2.6 Fostering Panels held each month  
 

April 2013 2 

May 2013 1 

June 2013 2 

July 2013 1 

August 2013 1 

September 2013 2 

 

2.7 From April – September 2013 the Agency Decision Makers (ADM) 
have been Jon Banwell, Assistant Director, Provider Services, and 
Matthew Sampson, Interim Director, Children, Young People and 
Families.  From October 2013, Matthew Sampson has no longer been 
the ADM and this role is now undertaken by Debbie Mercer, Assistant 
Director, Fieldwork Services.  The ADM’s role is to consider the 
fostering panel’s recommendation to make the final decision. The 
ADM is a nominated person within the fostering agency who has the 
legal responsibility to make an approval decision. In most 
circumstances this ADM accepts the fostering panel’s 
recommendation. 

 

Page 97



 

 4

 

 

2.9 Statistics 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   
As at the 30

th
 September the service had 30 vacancies.  This includes the 4 

specialist remand beds. The number of Looked After Children (LAC) in placement 
includes 8 family and friends carer placements and 12 young people aged 18 years 
and over.  
 

2.10 The number of fostering assessment approved in this reporting period 
was 9.  This number will hopefully increase to 34 newly approved 
foster carers by the end of March 2014.  The increase in regard to the 
number of placements in relation to these 34 new foster carers will be 
51.  

2.10 Where appropriate young people remain living with their foster carers 
after the age of 18 years.  This is known as ‘Staying Put’,  and seeks 
to extend the young person’s placement in a way that allows them to 
progress to more independent living at a time, and pace, that is based 
both on their assessed needs, as detailed within their Pathway Plan, 
and in accordance with their wishes and feelings.  12 young people 
aged 18 years older remain in placement with their foster carer.   

 

3   What does this mean for the people of Sheffield? 

3.1  It is important that Looked After Children are cared for within the city.  
Sufficiency: Statutory guidance on securing sufficient accommodation 
for looked after children seeks to improve outcomes for looked after 
children and young people by providing guidance on the 
implementation of section 22G of the Children Act 1989. This section 
requires local authorities to take steps that secure, so far as 
reasonably practicable, sufficient accommodation within the 
authority’s area which meets the needs of children that the local 
authority are looking after, and whose circumstances are such that it 
would be consistent with their welfare for them to be provided with 
accommodation that is in the local authority’s area, ‘the sufficiency 
duty’. 
 

As at 31
st
 March 

of each year 
Number of newly 
approved foster 

carers 

Number of new 
placements 

Total number of 
approved foster 

carers 

2009/10 27 35 223 

2010/11 37 45 250 

2011/12 39 47 272 

2012/13 37 48 282 

01/04/13 - 30/09/13 9 14 284 

As at 31
st
 March 

of each year 
Number of LAC in 

placement 
 
 
 2009/10 233 

2010/11 256 

2011/12 271 

2012/13 280 

30/09/13 281 

Page 98



 

 5

3.2 The sufficiency duty requires local authorities to do more than simply 
ensure that accommodation be ‘sufficient’ in terms of the number of 
beds provided. They must have regard to the benefits of securing a 
range of accommodation through a number of providers. The 
accommodation must also meet the needs of children. 
 

3.3 By continuing to increase and retain the number of foster carers within 
the city outcomes for children in care are enhanced and it ensures 
that the local authority is complying with its statutory duties.    84% of 
Sheffield’s children in care are placed within the city. 

 
4. Recommendation 
 

4.1 The Committee are being asked to note the report and its contents. 

Page 99



Page 100

This page is intentionally left blank



 

P
a

g
e
1

 

Children, Young People & Family Support Scrutiny & Policy Development Committee  

Work Programme 

 

Chair: Cllr Gill Furniss  Vice Chair: Cllr Andrew Sangar  

Meeting papers: click here 
 

Meeting Date Topic Overview Lead  Report 
Deadline 

 

Thursday  
3rd October 2013 
2-5pm 

• Teenage Pregnancy 
 

A report outlining the picture for Sheffield 
against the National picture and analysis 
of trends over previous 2-3 years. 

Amy Buddery, Health 
Improvement Principal & 
Sue Greig, Consultant in Public 
Health 

20th 
September 
2013 

• School Governance A Report on how the Council’s Governors 
Support Service supports Schools to 
respond to vacancies and the recruitment 
of governors along with the services 
response to the recommendations made 
in the April 2012 Scrutiny Report.  

Mike Patterson, School Liaison 
Manager 
 

Thursday  
5th December 2013 
2-5pm 

• Pupil Premium  A report outlining the use of pupil premium 
in Sheffield.  

Iain Peel, Interim Director, 
Inclusion & Learning Services 
 

Friday 22nd 
November 
2013 

• Educational 
attainment  

 

A report outlining the attainment outcomes 
for Sheffield with analysis against the 
national picture and trends over past 2-3 
years.  

Iain Peel, Interim Director, 
Inclusion & Learning Services 
 

Thursday 6th 
February 2014 
2-5pm 

• Annual Reports on 
Adoption & Fostering  
 

Annual reports on the adoption and 
fostering service in Sheffield.   

Jon Banwell, Assistant Director 
- Provider Services 
Liz Spaven, Fostering and 
Adoption Service Manager 

Friday 24th 
January 
2014          

• Sheffield 
Safeguarding Children 
Board (SSCB)- 2012-
13 Annual Report  

Presentation of the Annual Report 2012-
13 from the Sheffield Safeguarding 
Children Board (SSCB) 

Sue Fiennes – Independent 
Chair 
Trevor Owen – Head of 
Service, Safeguarding Children 
Victoria Horsefield – SSCB 
Board Manager 

A
genda Item

 10

P
age 101



 

P
a

g
e
2

 

• Report on looked after 
children and care 
leavers  

An update report on looked after children 
and care leavers, including the statistical 
picture for Sheffield and outcomes for 
young people in terms of employment etc.  

Jon Banwell, Assistant Director 
- Provider Services 
 

 

Thursday 3rd April 
2014 
Meeting 2-4pm  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
From 4.30pm (Town 
Hall, room tbc) 
 

• Report on the Early 
Years’ Service (tbc)  

 
 
 
 

• Pupil Premium Task & 
Finish Group Draft 
Report 

 

• Annual Meeting with 
Young People, Young 
Carers and the 
Children in Care 
Council (tbc)  

An update on the current contracts that 
are in place (in terms of both prevention 
and intervention) and the services that are 
planned for 2014-15 and beyond.  
 
 
To consider the Draft Report of the Task & 
Finish Group which is being presented for 
sign off. 
 
A meeting with young people, young 
carers and the Children in Care Council to 
discuss key issues affecting young people 
in the City (tbc).  

Dawn Walton, Assistant 
Director, Prevention & Early 
Intervention 
Julie Ward, Senior Manager - 
Early Years Service 
 
Pupil Premium Task & Finish 
Group 
 
 
Emma Hinchliffe, Young 
People's Involvement Worker  
Sheffield Futures 
 
Julie Mepham, Service 
Manager, Permanence and 
Throughcare Service 
 

Friday 21st  
March 2014 

Task & Finish Groups 

• Pupil Premium Task & Finish Group  

 

 

Please note: the Work Programme is a live document and so is subject to change.  

 

P
age 102


	Agenda
	4 Declarations of Interest
	5 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	2014 02 06 CYPFS Actions Update

	7 Sheffield Safeguarding Children Board - Annual Report 2012/13
	SSCB Annual Report 12-13

	8 Adoption and Fostering Services - Updates
	Fostering Scrutiny Report - Feb 2014

	10 Work Programme

